University of Colorado, Boulder CU Scholar

Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering

Spring 1-1-2015

Formaldehyde Sorption and Biological Activity in Porous Media

Anne V. Wrobetz University of Colorado at Boulder, anne.wrobetz@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.colorado.edu/cven_gradetds Part of the <u>Environmental Engineering Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Wrobetz, Anne V., "Formaldehyde Sorption and Biological Activity in Porous Media" (2015). *Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations*. 181. https://scholar.colorado.edu/cven_gradetds/181

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering at CU Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CU Scholar. For more information, please contact cuscholaradmin@colorado.edu.

Formaldehyde Sorption and Biological Activity in Porous Media

by

Anne Victoria Wrobetz B.S., University of Colorado Boulder, 2013

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Colorado at Boulder In partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science Department of Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering 2015 This thesis entitled:

Formaldehyde Sorption and Microbial Activity in Porous Media

written by Anne Victoria Wrobetz

has been approved for the Department of Civil, Environmental,

and Architectural Engineering

Lupita D. Montoya

Angela R. Bielefeldt

Jorge M. Vivanco

Date: _____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above mentioned discipline.

Wrobetz, Anne Victoria (M.S. Civil Engineering [Department of Civil, Environmental and Architectural Engineering])

Formaldehyde Sorption and Microbial Activity in Porous Media Thesis directed by Professor Lupita D. Montoya

Abstract

Formaldehyde is a common indoor air pollutant, which poses negative health effects to building occupants, and it is found in commercial, residential, and occupational spaces. Its removal is usually achieved by augmenting ventilation rates, an approach that is energy-intensive. Formaldehyde is a volatile organic compound (VOC) that is very hydrophilic and can be sorbed onto organic materials and porous media sorbents. The objective of the research is to quantify the rate of formaldehyde sorption on several porous media and determine if microbial degradation could occur in these media. Four porous media (Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, coco coir, and activated carbon) were tested and found to have average sorption potentials of 0.241, 0.572, 42.36, and 174.13 mg/g media, respectively. In addition, microbial communities extracted from several soils and these porous media were tested for their potential to survive on various levels of formaldehyde. One soil, thought to be exposed to formaldehyde, produced microbes able to survive on LB agar medium containing 20 mM (736.7 ppm) formaldehyde, but these CFU's were absent when the same soil was tested nine months later. Neat (not inoculated with microbes) porous media were also tested for their formaldehyde-resistant microbial communities before and after exposure to gaseous formaldehyde. Activated carbon, Growstone, and Hydroton expanded clay were largely sterile both before and after exposure. Coco coir exhibited colony growth at 1 mM formaldehyde before exposure and a 156.7% increase in colony counts on 1 mM plates after exposure to gaseous formaldehyde. The use of low-cost porous media such as coco coir should be further investigated as an alternative for the removal and degradation of formaldehyde in indoor environments.

Acknowledgements

There are so many people without whom this project would not have succeeded to the extent that it has. I would like to extend thanks to my thesis advisor, Dr. Lupita Montoya, and committee members, Dr. Jorge Vivanco and Dr. Angela Bielefeldt, for their support and time dedicated to this project from its initial to final stages. Input from each committee member directed this research at many points along the way. To Dr. Scott Summers, thank you for taking the time to refresh my knowledge of breakthrough curve analysis and teach me about throughputs. Also, thank you for your eternal cheerfulness, which certainly diffused many a potential panic. To all of the Environmental Engineering professors at CU, I would like to extend my eternal gratitude. Your patience and drive to shape and improve the future through the tireless imparting of knowledge will never be forgotten.

Many of my student peers supported this project in a huge way. A huge thanks goes out to Megan Matteazzi, Ashlyn Norberg and Xiurong Wang, who helped design, construct, run, fix, autoclave, pour, measure, and clean the many intricate parts of this research. Their help will keep the fire going on this research project, even after I finally graduate. Thanks to Ahu Aydogan for imparting knowledge from her experience working with BIAMPS, as well as being patient with increasingly desperate emails. Thanks also to Xingfeng Huang and Jacqueline Chaparro, members of the Vivanco research lab at Colorado State University, for sharing their microbial expertise and educating me in all things autoclave. I would not have been able to perform all of the microbial aspects of this project without this information. Thanks to Simon Mostafa for helping me translate my knowledge of the labs at Colorado State University into microbial projects here at CU, and the valuable input into microbial growth media. To my friends and family: you have never let me down. Rangarajan Raghunathan, thanks for the late night work sessions and your knowledge of statistical analysis, without which I would still have data points floating around my ears as I stabbed wildly at Excel. My gratitude is also extended for the shared indignance, which stoked the coals of my mind just enough to keep me believing that I would finish. Thanks to Garrett Reilly for taking the time to listen at my defense practice sessions, asking questions which I had never considered, and being my academic partner-in-crime for these past five years. Thanks to my family for being the launching pad to which I can always return. Thanks to Donald and Priscilla Wrobetz for convincing me that I'm actually not a delinquent and that I would make it through this. Kevin Wrobetz, I hope you have your clown wig ready. Kyle Wrobetz, you have always been someone who I can consult about anything mechanical, and your calm attitude helped throughout this project. To my nephew, Madoc Wrobetz: the spark of excitement in your eyes when you make a new discovery reminds me of the reason I decided to enter the wonderful world of science. Finally, thanks to Blake Smith for enduring all the science talk and passive aggressive pictures from the lab, and the constant, repetitive encouragement. Without help from all these kind folks, this thesis would have never made it off the ground.

Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Contents	vi
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Background	4
2.1 Introduction to Formaldehyde	4
2.2 Presence Indoors	4
2.2.1 Occupational	5
2.2.2 Commercial	6
2.2.3 Residential	7
2.3 Formaldehyde Health Effects	7
2.4 Formaldehyde Regulation	8
2.5 Control of Formaldehyde	9
2.5.1 Physical	9
2.5.2 Chemical	
2.5.3 Biological	
Chapter 3: Sorption Experiments	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials	
3.2.1 Porous media	
3.3 Methods	
3.3.1 Media characterization	
3.3.2 Formaldehyde meters correlation	23
3.3.3 Experimental setup	25
3.3.4 Chamber characterization	
3.3.5 Breakthrough experiments	
3.3.6 Data analysis	
3.4 Results from Sorption Experiments	
3.4.1 Growstone	
3.4.2 Expanded clay	

3.4.3 Coco coir
3.4.4 Activated carbon
3.4.5 Total sorption results
Chapter 4: Biological Experiments
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials
4.2.1 Rhizosphere soils
4.2.2 Porous media
4.2.3 Bacterial growth media
4.3 Methods
4.3.1 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in potting soils
4.3.2 Persistence of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in A-EC potting soil after nine months
4.3.3 Assessment of microbial survival of A-EC potting soil after re-exposure to formaldehyde 57
4.3.4 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in soils with added formaldehyde
4.3.5 Maximum formaldehyde levels for survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes
4.3.6 Formaldehyde as a growth substrate by formaldehyde-resistant microbes61
4.3.7 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of untreated porous media
4.3.8 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of porous media after formaldehyde exposure62
4.4 Results from Biological Experiments63
4.4.1 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in potting soils63
4.4.2 Persistence of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in A-EC potting soil after nine months
4.4.3 Assessment of microbial survival of A-EC potting soil after re-exposure to formaldehyde 68
4.4.4 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in soils with added formaldehyde
4.4.5 Maximum formaldehyde levels for survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes71
4.4.6 Formaldehyde as a growth substrate by formaldehyde-resistant microbes72
4.4.7 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of untreated porous media74
4.4.8 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of porous media after formaldehyde exposure76
Chapter 5. Conclusions
5.1 Practical Implications
5.2 Future Work
References

List of Tables

Table 1: Porous media characterization	21
Table 2: Particle size characterization of SunLeaves coco coir	22
Table 3: Particle size distribution of Growstone (Evans, 2011)	23
Table 4: Temperature and relative humidity levels during three Growstone trials	35
Table 5: Results from Growstone breakthrough curve	36
Table 6: Results from expanded clay breakthrough curve	38
Table 7: Results from coco coir breakthrough curve	41
Table 8: Results from activated carbon breakthrough curve	43
Table 9: Important sorption parameters determined for four porous media	47
Table 10: Summary of biological experiments	54
Table 11: Microbial survival from three indoor soil types grown on LB agar solid media with varying	
concentrations of formaldehyde	64
Table 12: Visible microbial growth over nine months from A-EC soil samples on formaldehyde	66
Table 13: Microbial growth of A-EC slurry on formaldehyde after exposure to 5 and 10 mM	
formaldehyde solution	69
Table 14: Visible growth in four soil samples with 5 mM and 10 mM formaldehyde	70
Table 15: Growth in colonies 1-14 in liquid LB media at varying formaldehyde concentrations	71
Table 16: Growth on different substrates for colonies 1-10	73
Table 17: Microbial survival on varying concentrations of formaldehyde from four different porous med	dia
	75
Table 18: CFU's on porous media and net increase after exposure to formaldehyde	77

List of Figures

Figure 1: Formaldehyde degradation GSH pathway (Wilson et al., 2008)	14
Figure 2: Correlation of the two HFX105 formaldehyde meters used	24
Figure 3: Sorption column breakthrough experimental setup	26
Figure 4: Gas leakage of Chamber 1	27
Figure 5: Gas leakage of Chamber 2	27
Figure 6: Control Case: Formaldehyde concentration versus time in Chambers 1 and 2 using an empty	
column	30
Figure 7: Graphical depiction of a breakthrough curve and important parameters (Andreiadis, 2005)	32
Figure 8: Breakthrough curve for averaged Growstone values	34
Figure 9: Breakthrough curves for the three Growstone experiments	34
Figure 10: Breakthrough curve for averaged expanded clay values	37
Figure 11: Breakthrough curve for the three expanded clay experiments	37
Figure 12: Incomplete coco coir breakthrough curve	39
Figure 13: Breakthrough curve for averaged coco coir values (25% volume of sorbent)	40
Figure 14: Breakthrough curves for the three coco coir experiments	40
Figure 15: Breakthrough curve for averaged activated carbon values	42
Figure 16: Breakthrough curves for the three activated carbon experiments	43
Figure 17: Average breakthrough curves for each of four porous media	45
Figure 18: Comparison of average sorption potentials by media	48
Figure 19: Comparison of average throughputs by media	48

Figure 20: Comparison of visual opacity to determine microbial presence (Left vial contains microbes,	
right vial does not)	50
Figure 21: Visual evidence of formaldehyde-resistant microbial activity in A-EC soils6	55

Chapter 1: Introduction

In the indoor environment, there are many pollutants of concern. One category of major pollutants is volatile organic compounds (VOC's). Formaldehyde is a specific VOC that is used as a preservative and disinfectant in many building materials (De Groot et al., 2009). Formaldehyde is also very volatile (NCBI, 2014). Hence, it tends to outgas from building materials and contaminate the air (De Groot et al., 2009). The presence of formaldehyde is fairly common in residential, commercial, and occupational buildings (Gilbert et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2011; Salthammer et al., 2010). Due to its known health problems and increasing awareness of indoor air quality, formaldehyde is being phased out of many building materials (Lockwood, 2006), but it still remains present in insulation, glues, resins, plywood, and fabrics, especially those used in low-income housing (Salthammer et al., 2010). Formaldehyde causes several health problems, including symptoms of Sick Building Syndrome (SBS), nasal and respiratory tract irritation, and cancer (Nielsen et al., 2010).

Formaldehyde, along with many other common indoor air contaminants, is regulated in the workplace by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). The action level, above which an employer is required to monitor formaldehyde in the indoor air, is 0.5 ppm (OSHA, 2014). However, there are no regulations protecting occupants of residential or commercial buildings against formaldehyde exposure.

Several methods exist to control formaldehyde in the indoor environment. Physical means primarily involve the increase of ventilation rates, which essentially dilutes formaldehyde concentration with relatively cleaner outdoor air (Salthammer et al., 2010). However, ventilation is energy-intensive and, with rising energy costs, a cost-intensive solution for formaldehyde control (Price et al., 2006). Chemical methods include sorption to activated carbon or titanium dioxide, or the utilization of the UV Fenton method (Yang et al., 2007; Sekine et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2011). These are well adapted to treating formaldehyde in wastewater streams (such as those from furniture manufacturing), but fewer studies exist on the sorption of formaldehyde from the air. Finally, biological methods for formaldehyde control include phytoremediation and microbial bioremediation. Plants have been studied extensively for their ability to improve indoor air quality, and they can also remove formaldehyde from the air (Xu et al., 2011). This is primarily a function of sorption to potting mix or growth media (Aydogan, 2012), but plant parts themselves can play a role in both sorption and degradation of formaldehyde (Xu et al., 2011). Microbes in the soil can degrade formaldehyde and other organic compounds, assisting in the remediation of the indoor air (Orwell et al., 2006). Exposure to formaldehyde can increase these microbes' ability to degrade the contaminant (Kim et al., 2011).

The long-term goal of this research is to develop a remediation system that can simultaneously sorb and degrade formaldehyde. While activated carbon is a common sorbent in both air and water applications (Sekine et al., 2001), other porous media have not been evaluated for their formaldehyde sorption po tential. A previous study by Aydogan (2012) showed that several hydroponic growth media could be utilized in a modular phytoremediation system, but the full sorption potentials were not studied in a breakthrough column experiment (Aydogan, 2012). Thus, four porous media (Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, coco coir, and activated carbon) were tested for their full sorption potential. In addition, six rhizosphere soils were analyzed for their microbial populations. The four porous media also had their microbial populations tested, both before and after exposure to formaldehyde. The motivation is to integrate microbial degradation with sorption of formaldehyde and create an air purification system to remediate formaldehyde in the indoor environment. Ultimately, this research will be applied in

environments with high concentrations of formaldehyde to provide clean, breathable air without the need for expensive solutions.

This thesis is divided in five chapters. Chapter 1 is an introduction to the research problem and proposed solution. Chapter 2 provides a detailed review of the existing literature, including information on the presence of formaldehyde in buildings, its health effects, regulation of formaldehyde and methods to control the levels of formaldehyde in indoor air. Chapter 3 presents the work done on analyzing sorption capacities of four porous media. Chapter 4 contains the biological work performed, specifically focusing on the formaldehyde-resistant microbial activity of these porous media and several soils. Chapter 5 concludes this research, summarizing the results and discussing future research on this topic.

Chapter 2: Background

2.1 Introduction to Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde, also known as methanal, is an organic compound commonly found in the environment. It is the most common aldehyde and it has the chemical formula HCHO. Aldehydes are generated in the environment from natural processes (volcanic eruptions, ocean currents, wind erosion, etc.) or anthropogenic processes (domestic, agricultural, or industrial). Aldehydes can cause health issues, and their general propensity to react and form peroxyacylnitrates, which are still more toxic, presents a major concern (Carlier et al., 1986). Formaldehyde has been used for centuries as a preservative and disinfectant, and is commonly found in resin, glues, plywood, insulation, and fabric (Pickrell et al., 1983). It is also generated in the process of combustion by cigarettes, cooking, or engines without catalytic converters. In the natural environment, it is generated in the troposphere during oxidation of hydrocarbons and in the ground during the decomposition of plant matter (Carlier et al., 1983). In sunlight, formaldehyde degrades rapidly with a half-life of 50 minutes or 35 minutes in the presence of nitrogen dioxide (Bufalini et al., 1972). While it is the most common aldehyde in the environment, its presence outdoors is rarely an issue due to this rapid degradation in sunlight. It has a Koc (soil organic carbon-water partitioning coefficient) value around 37 and a Kow (octanolwater partitioning coefficient) of 2.24, indicating that it is unlikely to sorb to organics but will stay in the aqueous phase if present in solution. The vapor pressure is 3,890 mmHg at 25°C, so formaldehyde will likely stay in the gas phase in typical environmental conditions (NCBI, 2014).

2.2 Presence Indoors

In the indoor environment, formaldehyde can reach levels that can cause negative health effects to people because it often lacks UV-catalyzed degradation and is common in building materials.

As energy conservation has become a key issue in buildings, the presence of formaldehyde is a concern; tightly sealed buildings and urea-formaldehyde foam insulation lead to an increase in indoor concentrations (Spengler et al., 2009).

2.2.1 Occupational

Formaldehyde (HCHO) is a common indoor air pollutant and a major contributor to Sick Building Syndrome (SBS). SBS is an umbrella term for the array of illnesses (mucosal, respiratory, skin, or otherwise) that building occupants exhibit after being exposed to a wide variety of indoor air pollutants (Burge et al., 2004). Without natural ventilation from the outdoors, levels of volatile contaminants can build up. Formaldehyde is also generated from the chemical degradation of other volatile organics in the indoor environment (Hodgson et al., 2007). Formaldehyde is heavily used as a preservative in building materials and fabrics. Common construction materials, such as medium-density fiberboard, can emit formaldehyde at a rate up to 55,000 µg/m²/day (Pickrell et al., 1983).

A study of 176 Finnish office buildings found mean concentrations of 11 μ g/m³ (0.01375 ppm), and median concentrations of 10 μ g/m³ (0.0125 ppm) (Salonen et al., 2009). While this level is below the WHO exposure limit of 0.1 mg/m³ (0.125 ppm) over a 30-minute period, repeated exposure to this combined with other VOC's can cause health effects (WHO, 2001).

Occupational exposure to formaldehyde may occur in multiple places, including furniture stores, restaurants (Weng et al., 2009) and nail salons (Baran, 2012). For example, nail products may have high contents of organic compounds, creating dangerous levels of total volatile organic compound (TVOC) contamination in the indoor environments where they are used. Many nail hardeners contain formaldehyde; therefore, manicurists may be exposed to higher levels of

HCHO than the average worker (Baran, 2012). Reported levels in nail salon have reached up to 38,000 ppb (38 ppm) (Goldin et al., 2014). The OSHA 8-hour time-weighted average exposure limit for any worker is 0.75 ppm, and the maximum 15-minute exposure limit is 2 ppm (OSHA, 2011). Personal protective equipment (PPE) provided in nail salons is typically infection-control facial masks, which do not protect against VOC exposure (Goldin et al., 2014).

Formaldehyde is also prevalent in other industries. For example, urea-formaldehyde adhesives or aminoplasts are commonly used in the manufacture of wooden products and furniture. Their low cost, rapid curing time, and compatibility with other additives make them very attractive in this industry (Salthammer et al., 2010). Workers in the furniture, plywood, and wood modeling industries have an increased risk of nasopharyngeal cancer, due in part to formaldehyde exposure (Vaughan, 2000).

2.2.2 Commercial

Formaldehyde is produced commercially through either methanol dehydrogenation or partial oxidation of methanol (Bahmanpour et al., 2014). Much of the formaldehyde produced is used as urea-formaldehyde resins for building materials. The majority of formaldehyde consumption occurs in the remodeling/construction industries, vehicle and furniture production, and original equipment manufacture (Kim et al., 2011). The Indoor Air Monitoring and Exposure Assessment Survey (AIRMEX) project, funded by the European Union and conducted by Geiss et al., compared indoor and outdoor air pollutant levels, including formaldehyde, and conducted personal exposure assessments. Formaldehyde levels in public buildings and offices have been measured to be 7-8 times higher than outdoor concentrations, ranging from $3-12 \ \mu g/m^3$ (0.00375-0.015 ppm). In kindergartens, the range was reported to be between 6 and $11 \ \mu g/m^3$ (0.0075-0.01375 ppm) (Geiss, 2011).

2.2.3 Residential

Certain activities at home, including combustion, can also result in the production of formaldehyde indoors. A study performed by the California Environmental Protection Agency showed that a self-cleaning cycle for a gas oven causes indoor formaldehyde levels to exceed $400 \ \mu g/m^3$ (0.5 ppm), and the same cycle in an electric oven results in levels between 130 and $420 \ \mu g/m^3$ (0.1625-0.525 ppm). For reference, the California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment's Acute Reference Exposure Level (REL) is 94 $\mu g/m^3$ (0.1175 ppm) for one hour (California Environmental Protection Agency, 2014).

Several studies have demonstrated that typical homes have formaldehyde contamination. In Prince Edward Island, Canada, residences built after 1970 had elevated concentrations of formaldehyde (Gilbert et al., 2005). A Danish study found average formaldehyde concentrations of 208 μ g/m³ (0.26 ppm) in an unoccupied apartment and 135 μ g/m³ (0.169 ppm) in an occupied apartment (Wolkoff et al., 1991). Low-cost residences are more likely to have elevated formaldehyde concentrations, as well. Manufactured houses in California had a mean concentration of 0.18 ppm formaldehyde, as compared to conventional houses with a mean of 0.04 ppm (Godish, 1989). In one study in the US, levels of formaldehyde measured in mobile and manufactured homes reached up to 300 ppb compared to 58 ppb US measured in site-built houses by the same study (Salthammer et al., 2010).

2.3 Formaldehyde Health Effects

Formaldehyde in the indoor environment is a concern because of its potential health effects. Formaldehyde tends to interact with biological macromolecules, and it typically comes in contact with humans through the nasal passages and oral mucosa. It is a nasal tract irritant and, at 10 ppm, can damage the respiratory and nasal epithelium in test rats (Appelman, 1988). Formaldehyde is rapidly metabolized in the body to formate (HCOO⁻) by NAD⁺ - dependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase. This enzyme has been detected in human liver and red blood cells (Hempel et al., 1984). Due to its rapid metabolization, exposure to 1.9 ppm of formaldehyde does not increase its blood concentration in humans (Heck et al., 1985). Once it enters the body, formaldehyde is either exhaled as carbon dioxide or excreted as formate in the urine (Heck et al., 1989).

Maternal formaldehyde exposure can cause adverse reproductive and developmental effects, including spontaneous abortion and increased combined risk of all adverse pregnancy outcomes (Duong et al., 2011). Formaldehyde is also classified as a Group 1 carcinogen to humans, though its exposure-response relationship for cancer in rats is highly non-linear (Nielsen et al., 2010).

Lethal concentration 50 (LC₅₀) is the concentration of a substance at which half (50%) of test subjects die from exposure. LC₅₀ values of formaldehyde have been reported for animal studies. Inhalation LC₅₀ values range between 414 ppm in mice exposed for 4 hours to 820 ppm in rats exposed for 30 minutes. High concentrations of inhaled formaldehyde in animals can result in difficulty breathing, nausea, excessive salivation, muscle spasms and death. Oral LD₅₀ for rats is reported as 800 mg/kg body weight, and for guinea pigs it is reported as 260 mg/kg body weight (Liteplo et al., 2002).

2.4 Formaldehyde Regulation

Formaldehyde exposure is regulated in the workplace by OSHA, based on human health toxicity values. The 8-hour time-weighted average (TWA) of formaldehyde in working environments is 0.75 ppm. The action level (level of toxic substance that requires medical surveillance, increased

industrial hygiene monitoring, or biological monitoring) for formaldehyde exposure is 0.5 ppm as an eight-hour TWA. An employee may not be exposed to higher than 2 ppm of formaldehyde as a 15 minute Short Term Exposure Limit (STEL). All employers are required to monitor formaldehyde levels in the workplace within a 95% confidence level and within plus or minus 25% of airborne concentration at the TWA and STEL and within plus or minus 35% of airborne concentration at the TWA and STEL and within plus or minus 35% of airborne concentration at the TWA and STEL and within plus or minus 35% of airborne concentration at the TWA and STEL and within plus or minus 35% of airborne concentration at the action level. Workplaces may be exempt from monitoring if they prove with objective data that concentrations of formaldehyde cannot reach the action level or STEL of formaldehyde concentrations. The initial monitoring process has to be redone every time there is a change in "production, equipment, process, personnel, or control measures." In addition, if the last monitoring reveals concentrations at or above the action level, monitoring must be repeated every six months. Should the last monitoring reveal concentrations at or above the STEL, monitoring must be repeated once a year until data reveal formaldehyde concentrations cannot reach the action level (OSHA, 2014).

2.5 Control of Formaldehyde

2.5.1 Physical

Various methods are commonly used to reduce VOC exposure in indoor environments, including increasing ventilation rates. VOC concentrations are typically very low in the outdoor environment, thus increasing the air exchange rate will reduce indoor HCHO. Increasing ventilation rates is an energy- and cost-intensive process. Many buildings have ventilation rates lower than recommended for their occupants, which results in a rise of CO₂ levels and various health effects (Sepännen et al., 1999). Typically, it is recommended that a steady state indoor concentration of 800 ppm CO₂ is maintained, which can be achieved with about 25 cfm of ventilation per person (Hodgson et al., 2007). Increasing ventilation rates results in a mechanical

reduction of formaldehyde. The ventilation rate necessary to maintain good air quality depends on the formaldehyde-producing activities and outgassing of building materials in the building of concern; therefore, it is not possible to define a minimum necessary ventilation rate for acceptable formaldehyde levels (Salthammer et al., 2010). Any increase in mechanical ventilation rates increases energy consumption and represents an increase in both investment and operating costs of a building (Price et al., 2006). To mitigate these costs, chemical and biological reduction methods are also sometimes employed.

2.5.2 Chemical

Formaldehyde can be removed from air or degraded by chemical means. Activated carbon filters are often employed to remove VOC's from air, and enhancing activated carbon particles with manganese oxides increases formaldehyde removal and degradation into CO₂ gas (Sekine et al., 2001). An experimental method for VOC control is the use of titanium dioxide or titania (TiO₂) and UV light to simultaneously adsorb (remove onto the surface) and mineralize (degrade to its elemental constituents) formaldehyde to CO₂ and H₂O (Yang et al., 2007). TiO₂ is able to adsorb approximately 2.5 times more formaldehyde normalized over surface area than commonly-used activated carbon (Noguchi et al., 1998). However, when this method is employed for the removal of VOC's with larger chemical structures, incomplete mineralization can actually lead to a net increase in formaldehyde on a titania photocatalyst prepared with titanium isopropoxide, ammonium carbonate, and nickelous nitrate co-doped with nitrogen and nickel (Zhang et al., 2008).

In wastewater systems, formaldehyde is often produced as a degradation by-product, and using a UV-Fenton system results in degradation rates of up to 91.89% HCHO at low concentrations,

which is rate-limited by the further mineralization of formic acid: the degradation product of this reaction (Liu et al., 2011). The UV-Fenton method forces ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) to react with hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) under UV light irradiation, producing hydroxyl radicals (-OH) with the ability to oxidize contaminants, including formaldehyde (Kajitvichyanukula et al., 2008).

2.5.3 Biological

In bioremediation, biological organisms are used to solve environmental problems such as contaminated soil or groundwater (Cornell, 2009). Biological organisms can be either plants or microorganisms such as fungi, bacteria, and protists. When plants are used to remediate contamination, the term used is "phytoremediation."

Plants have been shown to reduce VOC's in the air, and to improve the health of residents in buildings where plants are located. A study conducted at a Norwegian oil company demonstrated that the presence of plants reduced the self-reported levels of dry/hoarse throat and dry/itching facial skin by about 23% each (Fjeld et al., 1998). In multiple studies, plants have been shown to remove VOC's from the air, as well as reducing CO₂ concentrations. VOC removal has been reported to vary among plant species (Sriprapat et al., 2014). *Chlorophytum comosum* (spider plant) and *Epipremnum aureum* (golden pothos) are both effective at removing formaldehyde (Xu et al., 2011; Aydogan 2012). The ability to remove VOC's is inherent in plants grown both in potting soil as well as those grown in hydroponic growth media (Jin et al., 2013). For plants grown in a mixture of perlite and vermiculite, benzene was removed at a lower rate than by plants grown in potting mix; however, both removed 25 ppm of benzene over the course of seven days (Irga et al., 2013).

Plants have been studied to determine how they may degrade VOC's once removed from the air. Generally, once absorbed by (taken into) the leaf, formaldehyde is degraded by the Calvin cycle after a two-step enzymatic process that converts HCHO to CO_2 (Xu et al., 2011). This process utilizes formaldehyde dehydrogenase and formate dehydrogenase; however, formaldehyde toxicity affects plants' ability to assimilate formaldehyde. In a study by Schmitz et al. (2000), *F. benjamina* were able to assimilate between 62 and 73% of airborne formaldehyde on a one-time exposure basis. Consistent exposure to 0.05 ppm formaldehyde, however, caused *F. benjamina* to lose 50% stomatal conductance and around 20% of net CO_2 uptake, decreasing the amount of growth (Schmitz et al., 2000).

There are methods to improve the bioremediation potential of plants. For example, plants modified with Mammalian Cytochrome P450 2E1, a key enzyme in the mammalian degradation of low molecular weight VOC's, have shown greater ability to remove some of these VOC's from the air (James et al., 2008). Plants exposed to toluene have shown dramatic increases in phytoremediation efficiency of toluene, especially between the first and second exposure (Kim et al., 2011). This can be attributed to gene changes in the plant or changes in the soil microbial community; however, toxicity thresholds for bioremediation for formaldehyde have also been shown (Hidalgo et al., 2002). If the toxicity threshold is exceeded, the plant dies and the bioremediation potential is effectively reduced to zero (Ruggierro, 2005).

The concentration and influent flux of the contaminant must also be considered when optimizing its removal. In a study using a botanical biofilter, Darlington et al., (2001) showed toluene, ethylbenzene and o-xylene maximum removal efficiency (greatest removal per pass) at slow influent flux (around 0.02 m/s). The elimination capacity (greatest removal per time and biofilter

volume), on the other hand, was maximized at higher influent fluxes (0.1-0.2 m/s) using the same botanical biofilter (Darlington et al., 2001).

Typical bioremediation of a contaminated site can involve the addition of growth enhancing compounds to encourage the metabolism of the contaminant by native organisms. In other cases, sites may require the addition of non-native organisms to degrade the contaminant. If the contamination level is above a potential threshold, it may be toxic to the degrading organism. Consequently, bioremediation may be coupled with an alternate removal method. Bioremediation typically occurs in the soil, because soil can contain contamination more consistently than air or water (McGuinness et al., 2009).

VOC removal from indoor air by plants is primarily a function of sorption to the potting mix or growth media, while rhizosphere bacteria degrade the contaminant (Orwell et al., 2006). Formaldehyde removal in a sorption-based system is positively correlated with the surface area of sorbent as well as the temperature (Pedersen et al., 2005). Formaldehyde is relatively hydrophilic, with a Henry's constant of 2.5×10^3 M * atm⁻¹ (OSHA, 2011). Hence, it is more likely to sorb to a damp surface. Leaf area has been shown to play a small role in removal of formaldehyde. Further, in a study by Kim et al., (2008) removal rates normalized to leaf surface area actually increased with decreasing foliage, indicating that growth media likely plays a larger role in sorption than leaves (Kim et al., 2008). Inoculating the rhizosphere of these plants has been shown to drastically decrease the removal time for various VOC's. Inoculating *Azalea indica* with toluene-degrading *Pseudomonas putida* has been shown to decrease the 95% disappearance time (DT95) of toluene concentrated at 90 ppm_v from 75 to 27 hours (De Kempeneer et al., 2004). The main bacteria of concern are endophytic (non-pathogenic, naturally occurring plant bacteria) and rhizospheric (bacteria that live on and around the roots of plants)

(McGuinness et al., 2009). Thus, rhizosphere bacteria play a large role in a plant's removal of formaldehyde from the indoor air.

Biological formaldehyde oxidation is carried out through glutathione-dependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase (GSH-FDH), which functions well in aerobic respiratory conditions through the cometabolism of methanol and succinate (Barber et al., 1998). *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* is one type of bacteria that metabolizes formaldehyde. This bacterium utilizes methanol or methylated compounds to metabolize formaldehyde via a GSH pathway, as depicted in Figure 1: Formaldehyde degradation GSH pathway (Wilson et al., 2008). This is a typical bacterial degradation pathway for formaldehyde.



Figure 1: Formaldehyde degradation GSH pathway (Wilson et al., 2008).

Other strains of bacteria have been identified and isolated that can degrade formaldehyde. In one study by Mirdamadi et al. (2009), nineteen separate bacterial strains were found to survive with formaldehyde as their sole carbon source. Stepwise addition of formaldehyde to growing media was shown to increase resistance up to 5,920 mg/L (200 mM) (Mirdamadi et al., 2005). *Pseudomonas sp., Escherichia coli, Halomonas sp.,* and *Trichosporon sp.* have also been isolated and shown to be formaldehyde-resistant (Yamazaki et al., 2001).

Fungi, such as *Trichoderma viride H1*, *Penicillium javanicum H2*, *Aspergillus flavus H4*, have been shown to degrade formaldehyde as long as another carbon source such as glucose, maltose, dextrose, or starch is used for growth (SaiHua et al., 2009). The formaldehyde-degrading microorganisms can come from multiple sources, including soil, river water, or seawater, though

generally they are located near chemical plants that use formaldehyde (Yamazaki et al., 2001). Formaldehyde degradation can occur under anaerobic as well as aerobic conditions, though higher organics concentrations have been measured in the effluent stream of an anaerobic sequencing batch biofilm reactor as influent concentrations are increased (Pereira et al., 2009). Little information is present in the literature on biokinetics of formaldehyde degradation. However, toxicity values have been established for mixed bacterial cultures from aquatic organisms as an EC₅₀ value of 34.1 mg/L (41.82 ppm, .001 mM) (Tisler et al., 1997). For effective degradation of formaldehyde to occur, the formaldehyde must first be removed by sorption or biological uptake, and then degraded by either plants or microbes.

Chapter 3: Sorption Experiments

3.1 Introduction

The objective of the sorption experiments was to quantify the amount of formaldehyde that can be sorbed onto four different dry porous media. While it has been shown that plant growth media remove some of the formaldehyde in a phytoremediation setting (Wolverton et al., 1993), a full characterization of the media was not performed in that study. Sorption of formaldehyde by three growing media was first reported in Aydogan and Montoya (2011) and further investigated in Aydogan (2012). Formaldehyde can be sorbed (either adsorbed or absorbed) onto certain media, including activated carbon (Sekine et al., 2001) and titanium dioxide (Noguchi et al., 1998). There is little literature about the ability of other porous media to sorb gaseous formaldehyde. Further, while plants have been linked to a net removal of VOC's from the air (Schmitz et al., 2000), this removal was primarily done by the soil or media where the plants were grown (Orwell et al., 2006).

In a previous study, the potential of three porous materials (Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, and activated carbon) to passively remove formaldehyde was evaluated (Aydogan and Montoya, 2011). Additional experiments evaluated the active removal of formaldehyde using a modular system that incorporated all three porous media (Aydogan, 2012) and found that Growstone and Hydroton expanded clay have low sorption potentials. In the study presented here, four porous media (Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, activated carbon and coco coir) were assessed for their potential to sorb formaldehyde in its gaseous phase and to harbor the growth of formaldehyde-degrading bacteria. Since coco coir and activated carbon have been successfully used as sorbents in the wastewater treatment industry, it was expected that they would have high sorption potentials (Kavitha et al., 2007; Moteleb et al., 2002).

3.2 Materials

Four porous materials were selected for this study. Growstone and Hydroton expanded clay were chosen for their widespread use in hydroponic plant growth and previous integration into a modular remediation system (Aydogan, 2011). Coco coir and activated carbon were selected because they are commonly used in sorption processes (Namasivayam et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2011). Activated carbon was selected primarily as a control case, for comparison purposes.

3.2.1 Porous media

• Growstone

Growstone (GS-1 Hydro Stones, 1/4 inch particle size, Santa Fe, NM) is manufactured by Growstone LLC and it is made from recycled glass that is foamed in a waterless process. The produced material is then ground to irregular sizes to promote porosity in the final media. It is a popular hydroponic medium because it retains water well and drains rapidly, allowing for quick changes in nutrient composition. According to the manufacturer, Growstone holds 3 times more water and 12% more air than Hydroton expanded clay (Growstone, 2011). Aydogan (2012) evaluated the bulk density, water holding capacity and the air porosity of these materials and found the water holding capacity of Growstone to be 2.43 times that of Hydroton expanded clay.

• Hydroton expanded clay

Expanded clay (Hydroton, 8/16 mm, Eschborn, Germany) is manufactured in a similar way to Growstone, using clay instead of glass as the base medium. Its hydroponic uses are very similar to those of Growstone, with similar water retention properties and porosities. According to Aydogan (2012), the water holding capacity of Growstone is 17% and that of Hydroton expanded clay is 7%, while the porosity of Growstone is 79% and that of expanded clay is 70% (Aydogan, 2012). According to the manufacturer, Hydroton expanded clay displays a neutral pH and can be reused after cleaning with hydrogen peroxide or white vinegar (Hydroton, 2009). In 2012, the Hydroton facility stopped production of this aggregate, so it is increasingly harder to find (Fifth Season Gardening, 2012). Biofilms do not readily accumulate on expanded clay, so it was not expected to be an ideal media for harboring formaldehyde-degrading bacteria (Pienaar et al., 2008).

Coco coir

. Coco coir is also known as coco peat or coco pith. Coco coir is generally a by-product of the coir (coconut fiber) manufacturing process, and consists of shredded coconut husks and some smaller fibers It has a high carbon to nitrogen ratio, ranging between 75 and 186, as well as 35% to 54% lignin content; therefore, it is unlikely to biodegrade under normal conditions (Tripetchkul, 2012). Coco coir is marketed as both a hydroponic growth media and a soil amendment to increase water retention and organic matter in the soil. It can also be turned into an activated carbon product, which has been studied for its effectiveness in the adsorption of methylene blue, remazol yellow, and Congo Red dyes (Kavitha et al., 2007; Macedo et al., 2006; Namasivayam, 2002). In addition, both unmodified and modified coco coir have been used as sorbents for metal ions in water (Conrad et al., 2007). In this study, SunLeaves Coco CoirBrick (Classic Coir Bricks, Sunleaves, Bloomington, IN) was evaluated. This medium is finely-shredded, untreated, and traditionally used for African violet growth (Sunleaves, 2014).

• Activated carbon

Activated carbon is widely used across many industries as a filter for water or air because of its sorption properties. It has high surface area per mass ratios, resulting in a large number of sorption sites. The unique pore structures and surface chemistry make activated carbon an excellent sorbent for many gas and liquid applications, including gas separation and purification (Sircar et al., 1996). The adsorption capacity varies depending on the composition and particle size of the activated carbon, but typical formaldehyde adsorption capacities range between 70-105 mg per gram of activated carbon at high concentrations (498 mg/m³, 622.5 ppm), and between 5 and 10 mg per gram of activated carbon at low concentrations (0.41 mg/m³, 0.5125 ppm) (Wen et al., 2011). It can be used to purify nutrient solution of toxic compounds, specifically those produced in the root exudates of hydroponic plants, which results in boosted growth of plants (Yu et al., 1993). Activated carbon is made by combusting carbonaceous material at high temperatures in the absence of oxygen. The activated carbon used in this study (6×16 Granular, Carbon Activated Corp. Orchard Park, NY) was made of coconut husks by Carbon Activated Corp., and it was 6 x 16 mesh size (3.35 x 1.18 mm) (Carbon Activated Corp., 2014).

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Media characterization

Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay and activated carbon were characterized in a previous study (Aydogan, 2012) and coco coir was characterized in this study. The media were analyzed for bulk density, air porosity, and water holding capacity, which are considered the most important characteristics for hydroponic plant growth.

The method for characterizing these media was developed by Liegel and Venator (Liegel et al., 1987). Briefly, a 10 cm diameter pot was used as a container, with the drainage holes sealed with masking tape. The container's volume was measured to be approximately 500 mL, with a height of 6.5 cm. The container was filled with slightly moistened growing media, and water was added from a graduated cylinder and the total volume added was recorded. Volume measurements are precise to the nearest 1 mL. The water was added against the inside wall of the container to prevent any air from being trapped in the media. Water was added until the media was saturated, with a thin film of water visible on the top. This total volume was recorded as the *total pore volume*. Then, the tape was loosened to allow the water to drain from the pot. The pot drained for a 2-hour period, and all the drainage water was captured and measured in a graduated cylinder. This water is recorded as the *aeration pore volume*. Each media was tested once.

From these measurements, the total porosity, air porosity, and water-holding capacity were determined as follows, in Equations 1-3:

or = total porosity - air capacity

The porous media characterization results are presented in Table 1. This characterization includes the bulk density, air porosity, water holding capacity, and price.

Growing Medium	Bulk Density	Air Porosity	Water Holding	Price
	(g/cm^3)	(%)	Capacity (%)	(\$/kg)
Activated carbon	0.46^{1}	37 ⁴	29 ⁴	4 ¹
Expanded clay	0.40^{2}	70^{4}	7^{4}	2^{2}
(Hydroton)				
Foamed glass	0.18^{3}	79^{4}	17^{4}	6 ⁵
(Growstone)				
Coco coir	0.07	10	75	4.25^{6}

(¹ Activated Carbon Corp., 2009; ² Hydroton, 2009; ³ University of Arkansas, 2008; ⁴ Aydogan, 2012; ⁵ Growstone, 2011; ⁶ SunLeaves, 2014)

The particle size distribution of the coco coir, the most heterogeneous and least characterized media included in this study, was determined using soil sieves (U.S. Standard, Soiltest Incorporated, Chicago, IL). This process consisted of pouring 50.7 g coco coir through 6 sieves with mesh sizes ranging from 75 mm to 2.5 mm (Table 2) and weighing the mass captured by each sieve. The mass captured represents the total mass of particles in the sample above the mesh size. The particle size characterization of SunLeaves coco coir used in this study is shown in Table 2.

Sieve Mesh Size	Mass captured (g)	Percent of total mass
(mm)		
75	0.45	0.89 %
20	3.08	6.1 %
11.9	5.36	10.6 %
8.4	5.63	11.1 %
2.7	24.10	47.5 %
2.5	2.61	5.1 %
Remainder	9.45 g	18.6 %
Total	50.6 g	99.9 %

Table 2: Particle size characterization of SunLeaves coco coir

From this sieve data, the d10, d50 and d90 of SunLeaves coco coir was determined to be approximately 2 mm, 4 mm, and 14 mm, respectively. For comparison, published particle size distribution of Growstone is presented in Table 3. The reported d10 and d50 of Growstone were approximately 3 mm and 6.7 mm, respectively (Evans, 2011).

Particle size (mm)	Percent of total mass
<2.0	4
2.0-2.8	3
2.8-6.3	33
6.3-8.0	32
>8.0	28

Table 3: Particle size distribution of Growstone (Evans, 2011)

The activated carbon used in this study was 6x16 granular, with 85-95% of the particles captured between mesh size 6 (3.36 mm) and 16 (1.19 mm) (Activated Carbon Corp., 2013). There is no published characterization of Hydroton expanded clay but the 8/16 mm size used in this study contained particles between 8 and 16 mm, according to the manufacturer (Hydroton, 2009).

3.3.2 Formaldehyde meters correlation

Two formaldehyde meters (Hal Technologies HFX-105, Fontana, California) were utilized in these experiments. These meters use an electrochemical sensor with a 0.01 ppm resolution, and can detect gaseous formaldehyde within the range of 0.00 to 10.00 ppm. The meters were calibrated by Hal Technologies, though the readings drifted within a week after calibration. There were reading differences between these two meters, which seemed to increase as relative formaldehyde concentrations increased. The two meters were correlated at three concentration ranges: low (near 0 ppm), medium (between 0.5 and 1.5 ppm) and high (between 1.5 and 3 ppm). These concentrations were generated by releasing liquid formalin solution (37% formaldehyde by weight, Fisher Scientific, F79-500, Waltham, MA) into a 10 inch x 10 inch x 10 inch chamber using a New Era NE-1000 programmable single syringe pump (New Era Pump Systems, Farmingdale, New York) at rates of 0.71 μ L/hr, 1.5 μ L/hr, and 3.0 μ L/hr, respectively. An additional 6 LPM of formaldehyde-free air from the University of Colorado lab bench was added for dilution. The syringe used was a Terumo SS60L 60 cc Luer Lock Tip Syringe without a needle (Terumo Medical Products, Tokyo, Japan). The airflow rate was controlled manually with a valve and monitored with a 4-50 LPM rotameter (Omega Engineering Inc., Stamford, CT). The measurements from the second meter were plotted against those from the first meter, as shown in Figure 2. Each concentration range showed a different slope, with more variability as the concentration in the chamber increased. Three correlation curves were generated from these data, at each of the concentration ranges. All correlations were greater than one and linear, indicating that meter 2 always read higher than meter 1 for all values above zero. The difference between the two monitor readings increased with increasing formaldehyde concentrations. The curves are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Correlation of the two HFX105 formaldehyde meters used

Below 0.5 ppm, the Meter 2 reading was approximately 1.53 times that of Meter 1, with an R^2 value of 0.9518. Because all the data generated in the breakthrough experiments were below 0.5

ppm, this correlation was used. The correlation between meter data at higher concentrations has a notably lower R^2 value.

3.3.3 Experimental setup

The experimental setup used in the sorption experiments is shown in Figure 3 and it shows the source of gaseous HCHO, a mixing (dirty) chamber (Chamber 1), a test media column and a second (clean) chamber (Chamber 2). The two chambers were constructed from acrylic polymer (Colorado Plastic Products, Inc., Louisville, Colorado) and cut with a laser cutter. Chamber 1 was 10 inches x 10 inches x 10 inches (0.0164 m³) and the Chamber 2 was 6.5 inches x 6.5 inches x 6.5 inches (0.0045 m³). A 1-inch (2.54 cm) silicon gasket was installed around the top to minimize leakage. The chambers were sealed with acrylic epoxy, except at the top, where aluminum hinges and a clamp allowed the chamber to open and latch. A HalTech HFX105 formaldehyde meter was placed inside each chamber to measure and record the concentration (in ppm) of formaldehyde. The chambers were connected to a 0.00085 m³ polycarbonate column (Hammond Drierite Co., Ltd., Xenia, OH) with Tygon lab-grade 1/8 inch (0.32 cm) flexible tubing (Component Supply Company, Fort Meade, Florida), which does not outgas VOC's. The column had an inner diameter of 6.0 cm (2.4 inches), a wall thickness of 0.5 cm (0.2 inches), a height of 30.0 cm (11.8 inches), and 25.0 cm (9.8 inches) between the ports.

Before each experiment, the polycarbonate column was packed with the media of interest. Formalin solution (37% formaldehyde by volume) was introduced at a rate of 0.71 μ L/hr using a New Era NE-1000 programmable single syringe pump into Chamber 1 and mixed with 6 LPM of clean air. Clean air, accessed from a lab bench, was tested to have a formaldehyde concentration of 0.00 ppm before every sorption experiment was performed. The clean air and the formaldehyde solution mixed via a plastic y-connector, then the mixture entered Chamber 1. The concentration of formaldehyde generated ranged between 0.35 and 0.42 ppm. Chamber 1 was connected with tubing to the top of the column and "contaminated" air flowed downward through the column and into Chamber 2. Temperature and relative humidity in the lab were not recorded nor controlled.



Figure 3: Sorption column breakthrough experimental setup

3.3.4 Chamber characterization

The chambers were assessed for gas leakage using CO_2 as a tracer gas. A short pulse of CO_2 gas was introduced in the chamber and its concentration was measured with a CO_2 monitor (Telaire 7001, General Electric, Goleta CA) for a 24-hour period. Figure 4 shows the CO_2 concentration inside Chamber 1 as a function of time. The infiltration rate for this chamber was 0.0032 hr⁻¹. Figure 5 shows the CO_2 concentration inside Chamber 2 as a function of time. The infiltration rate for this chamber was 0.0028 hr⁻¹. These infiltration rates were calculated according to Equation 4, and described in detail in Persily (1997):
(4) $\ln (C(t)) = \ln (C_0) - I^*t$

C(t) is the concentration of CO_2 at a given time, C_0 is the initial concentration of CO_2 , I is the infiltration rate (in hr^{-1}), and t is time (in hours).



Figure 4: Gas leakage of Chamber 1



Figure 5: Gas leakage of Chamber 2

3.3.5 Breakthrough experiments

The potential of 4 porous media to sorb gaseous formaldehyde was evaluated using a series of breakthrough experiments and the setup shown in Figure 3. In each evaluation, a formaldehyde-laden airstream was created using a syringe pump that introduced formaldehyde at a rate of 0.71 μ L/hour. Clean air was introduced at a flow rate of 6 liters per minute (LPM). These parameters generated a steady-state concentration in Chamber 1 of approximately 0.4 ppm. This concentration was selected because it is the upper limit of the odor threshold and a level at which workers have reported nasal irritation, skin sensitivity, and eye irritation (Arts et al., 2008). In addition, the Department of Housing and Urban Development has set a limit on formaldehyde emissions of plywood particleboard of 0.4 ppm in prefabricated and mobile homes, so this is a regulated limit for indoor concentrations (Zhang et al., 2009). The porous media used in these experiments include Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, commercially available activated carbon and SunLeaves coco coir.

At the beginning of each experiment, the column was packed with one of the four porous media. The media were not treated or altered in any way from their original state and they were not reused after being tested. Formaldehyde-laden air was introduced continuously into Chamber 1. After a steady-state concentration was reached in Chamber 1, the media-packed column was connected to both chambers. Formaldehyde levels were measured in both chambers until the concentration in Chamber 2 equaled that of Chamber 1. This was considered as the saturation point, when the media was fully saturated with sorbed formaldehyde; the experiment was stopped at that point. Each experiment was repeated three times for each porous media.

All of the experiments were performed under a fume ventilation hood, and all parts were tested for outgassing before the experiment began. For this test, the parts were placed in Chamber 1 with a meter and no air flowing or formaldehyde pumping. The meter was turned on to record formaldehyde measurements for approximately 6 hours. Formaldehyde levels were also measured in the empty chambers to check for outgassing from the chamber walls. The meter registered 0.00 ppm for all tests performed on the empty chambers. Breakthrough curves were generated using the data obtained in each breakthrough experiment.

3.3.6 Data analysis

The sorption potential of a media is defined as the total amount of sorbate absorbed into and adsorbed onto a specified mass of sorbent. In this research, formaldehyde was the sorbate and each of the four porous media acted as the sorbent. The sorption potential of each media included in this study was determined separately.

In this experiment, the concentrations of formaldehyde in Chamber 1 and Chamber 2 were measured using the HFX105 meters. The meters were either set to record every 1 minute (for Growstone and expanded clay), or every five minutes (for coco coir), or every nine minutes (for activated carbon). The meters can only record a total of 500 data points at a time; therefore, sampling rates were set to conform to this limitation. The total sorbed formaldehyde concentration was determined by summing the differences between Chamber 1 and Chamber 2 concentrations at each time step over the entire breakthrough curve. This concentration was then multiplied by the air flow rate used in the experiment (6 LPM) and divided by 1,000,000 to convert the total volume of formaldehyde (in L) sorbed to the media. This volume was then divided by the density of formaldehyde (815.3 g/L, at 25°C and 1 atm) to obtain the total mass, in grams, of formaldehyde sorbed onto the media. The mass of sorbed formaldehyde was then divided by the total mass of media in the column to obtain the sorption potential of each media. This method is described in detail by Chowdury et al. (2013) and is summarized by Equation 5:

(5)
$$q_e = (V / W) * \int (C_0 - C_e) dt$$

Where q_e is the sorption potential, C_0 is the equilibrium concentration in Chamber 1, C_e is the concentration in Chamber 2 (their difference is integrated over the entire curve), V is the total volume of air treated, and W is the mass of porous media (Chowdury et al., 2013).

Before media experiments were performed and as a control, two runs were completed using no media in the packed column (empty column). These control cases were run at the beginning of the experiment process in order to assess breakthrough time of the system without any media. These could have also been run after the media runs were completed, as long as the system was cleaned. Figure 7 shows an example of raw data obtained from these control cases. The concentration of formaldehyde is presented on the y-axis (in ppm), and time is presented on the x-axis (in minutes). Two runs of the control experiment are presented in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Control Case: Formaldehyde concentration versus time in Chambers 1 and 2 using an empty column

The experimental residence time for the control case (empty column) was determined to be between 14 and 16 minutes, where the concentration in Chamber 2 crosses that of Chamber 1 in both trials.

The expected residence times are calculated from Equation 6:

(6)
$$\Theta = V / r$$

where Θ is the residence time (in minutes), V is the volume of the chamber (in L), and r is the rate of formaldehyde-laden air flow through the chamber (in LPM).

Since the air flowrate was 6 LPM, the calculated residence time in Chamber 1 (0.016 m³) was 2.73 minutes. Similarly, the residence times for the column (0.00085 m³) and Chamber 2 (0.0035 m³) were 0.14 minutes and 0.75 minutes, respectively. The expected total residence time for the control system was 3.625 minutes, which is far less than the 14 to 16 minute experimental residence time to full breakthrough of formaldehyde in the control case.

The four important parameters in typical breakthrough curve analysis are: the breakthrough time (T_B) , the equilibrium time (T_E) , the retention time (T_R) , and the total time (T_0) . The retention time is defined as the time corresponding to 0.5 times the initial concentration of analyte (formaldehyde). The breakthrough time is defined as the time that corresponds to 0.05 times the initial concentration of analyte. The equilibrium time is the time that corresponds to 0.95 times the initial concentration of analyte. The total time corresponds to the initial concentration of analyte. The total time corresponds to the initial concentration of analyte (Andreiadis, 2005). Figure 6 depicts a breakthrough curve and these important parameters (Andreiadis, 2005). The concentration of the analyte is shown on the y-axis versus the time elapsed on the x-axis. The time the system has run is presented on the x-axis, while the concentration of the analyte is on the y-axis. There are three common methods for determining these parameters: the standard deviation method, the direct method, and the third derivative

method. In this study, the direct method was used. These four times were used in the analysis for each of the media, according to Equations 7 through 10:

- (7) $T_R = T_{(C = 0.5 * C0)}$
- (8) $T_B = T_{(C = 0.05*C0)}$
- (9) $T_E = T_{(C=0.95*C0)}$
- (10) $T_0 = T_{(C=C0)}$



Figure 7: Graphical depiction of a breakthrough curve and important parameters (Andreiadis, 2005)

In this study, breakthrough curves were generated at only one initial concentration (C_0); consequently, not enough data were obtained to develop Freundlich or Langmuir isotherms, which are recommended. An alternative method of analyzing breakthrough data is to determine throughput (a dimensionless quantity), as described by Singh et al (2006). The throughput is defined as the total time to reach a specific volume (t) divided by the total residence time (Θ) in the column, shown by Equation 11 (Singh et al., 2006):

(11) Throughput = t/θ

The throughput in this study was defined using the retention time, the time the concentration in Chamber 2 takes to reach 50% of the concentration in Chamber 1.

Data generated from breakthrough experiments presented significant noise, so all breakthrough curves were smoothed using the Exponential Data Analysis tool in Microsoft Excel. The damping factor was set at 0.7. The damping factor in Excel is one minus the smoothing factor, α , used in exponential smoothing calculations. The smoothing factor is the weight given to the current data point as compared to the previous data point. A higher damping factor will generate a smoother curve. It is recommended to set α between 0.2 and 0.3. Higher values of this smoothing factor result in noisier data while lower values result in lagged data that does not reflect actual trends (McCullough et al., 2008).

3.4 Results from Sorption Experiments

3.4.1 Growstone

Breakthrough curves for Growstone were obtained in three independent experiments. Figure 8 shows the average Growstone breakthrough curve (n=3). Error bars correspond to the standard deviation in representative time parameters, depicted by black squares on the figure. Figure 9 shows the original data from the three separate experiments (trials).



Figure 8: Breakthrough curve for averaged Growstone values



Figure 9: Breakthrough curves for the three Growstone experiments

Differences among the three trials can be attributed to several factors. First, as formaldehyde was generated over time, it crystallized in the tubing leading into Chamber 1. The crystals would accumulate inside the line and would occasionally burst into Chamber 1. This led to some variability in measured concentrations in Chamber 1. Second, temperature and humidity were not actively controlled; therefore, it is possible that variations in either of these parameters led to

variability in sorption rates. Temperature and humidity were recorded at the beginning of each of the Growstone trials, before the column was connected to the chambers. Temperature and relative humidity levels correspond to room conditions (under the fume hood) next to the experimental setup but outside of either chamber.

Temperature and relative humidity were measured with a Traceable Hygrometer (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). The accuracy is ±1.8°F from 32° to 104°F, with a resolution of 1.0 °F. The precision for relative humidity is ±2% between 25% and 95%, with an accuracy of ±4% below 25% relative humidity and a resolution of 1% relative humidity. These instruments were not calibrated prior to these experiments or verified against other instruments; no other measurements were taken for temperature or relative humidity in these experiments. The three measurements taken are presented in Table 4, along with the average and standard deviation calculated. The standard deviation for temperature was 0.95, and that for relative humidity was 0.55. The standard deviation for representative times among the three Growstone trials ranged between 1.2 and 12.7. The variation among temperature and relative humidity is much smaller than that among the Growstone breakthrough curves, indicating that the formaldehyde crystallization likely contributes more to the variation in breakthrough curves. In future research, temperature and relative humidity should be monitored and if possible, controlled.

	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trial 3	Average	Std. Dev
Temperature (°F)	73.6	75.3	73.7	74.2	0.95
Relative Humidity (%)	22.5	22.4	23.4	22.8	0.55

Table 4: Temperature and relative humidity levels during three Growstone trials

Table 5 summarizes the results from the Growstone breakthrough curves. The parameters of interest are listed on the left column. Averaged results and the standard deviation from the three trials are presented in this table.

Parameter	Average Result	Standard Deviation (o)
Sorption potential (mg/g)	0.24	0.05
Breakthrough time (min) (T _B)	1.7	1.2
Retention time (min) (T _R)	11	8
Equilibrium time (min) (T _E)	39.3	12.7
Total time (min) (T _T)	54.7	10.0
Throughput (min/min)	89.6	39.9

 Table 5: Results from Growstone breakthrough curve

In a study performed by Aydogan (2012), 138 g of dry Growstone reduced an airborne formaldehyde concentration of 1.68 ppm by 17.4% on average. This represents a sorption capacity of 0.46 mg of formaldehyde per g of Growstone. This average sorption potential is likely higher than the 0.24 mg formaldehyde per g of Growstone found in this study because the initial concentration of formaldehyde in the Aydogan study was higher and the air was not flowing past the media, as in this study.

3.4.2 Expanded clay

Figure 10 shows the average (n=3) breakthrough curve obtained for the Hydroton expanded clay. The standard deviations of the four characteristic times are presented in error bars. Figure 11 shows the raw data from the three expanded clay breakthrough curves.



Figure 10: Breakthrough curve for averaged expanded clay values



Figure 11: Breakthrough curve for the three expanded clay experiments

As shown in Figure 11, the expanded clay trials had the least variation of any of the media, with standard deviations ranging between 4.9 and 30.5 for all time parameters. This is likely due to the relative homogeneity in size and shape of the expanded clay particles. The total surface area is likely more uniform for this material compared to the other three media.

The averaged results of all expanded clay runs are presented in Table 6. The important parameters are listed on the left column. Averaged results and the standard deviation from all three trials are presented in this table.

In a previous study performed by Aydogan (2012), 138 grams of dry expanded clay reduced 1.63 ppm of formaldehyde by an average of 26.4% over 10 hours. This translates into a total sorption capacity of 0.7 mg formaldehyde per g of expanded clay. This result is 0.13 mg/g higher than the results from this study. This is likely because the total formaldehyde concentrations in the Aydogan study were higher and the air did not flow past the media, increasing the total amount of formaldehyde that can be sorbed onto the media.

Parameter	Average Result	Standard Deviation (σ)
Sorption potential (mg/g)	0.57	0.07
Breakthrough time (min) (T _B)	8.3	4.9
Retention time (min) (T _R)	77	25.0
Equilibrium time (min) (T _E)	203	26.6
Total time (min) (T _T)	209.7	30.5
Throughput (min/min)	548.5	181.1

Table 6: Results from expanded clay breakthrough curve

3.4.3 Coco coir

The coco coir breakthrough curve when the column was fully packed could not be completed, because the meters can only store 500 points of data. The first attempt in this experiment is shown in Figure 12. It shows the incomplete coco coir breakthrough curve. Several options were available to address this instrument limitation. One option was to assume the breakthrough began around 6,000 minutes (as in Figure 12), and only record data points after this time. Another option was to add less media into the column so that saturation would occur more rapidly. In this work, we selected option 2. This allowed us to record a full breakthrough curve and account for variability in breakthrough start times.



Figure 12: Incomplete coco coir breakthrough curve

The mass of coco coir in this column was 74.62 g.

Therefore, coco coir was run at only ¹/₄ the volume of the column, at a height of 2 in. in order to record the entire breakthrough curve. The total volume of sorbent was 0.15 L. The sorption potential is normalized over the mass of porous media in the column. Thus, the same column was used, as it was already characterized with the rest of the system.

Figure 13 shows the average coco coir breakthrough curve for coco coir. Figure 14 shows the raw data from the three experiments. The standard deviations of the four characteristic times are presented as error bars.



Figure 13: Breakthrough curve for averaged coco coir values (25% volume of sorbent)



Figure 14: Breakthrough curves for the three coco coir experiments

The averaged results from all coco coir runs are presented in Table 7. The important parameters are listed on the left column, including the appropriate units used. The averaged results and the standard deviation from all trials are presented in this table. There is no other information published in previous studies on formaldehyde sorption by coco coir in air.

Parameter	Averaged Result	Standard Deviation (σ)
Sorption potential (mg/g)	42.4	13.6
Breakthrough time (min) (T _B)	79.7	59.1
Retention time (min) (T _R)	175	126.3
Equilibrium time (min) (T _E)	535.7	153.0
Total time (min) (T _T)	637.7	53.3
Throughput (min/min)	6,562.5	4,736.2

Table 7: Results from coco coir breakthrough curve

Coco coir had noticeably higher variability among the three experiments than did any of the other three media. This could be due to the heterogeneity in coco coir's particle sizes and composition. There was a much wider range in particle size distribution for coco coir than the other media, and it contained many longer fibers along with small particles. The heterogeneity of the media could have caused significant variability among trials because of differences in air flow patterns, sorption sites, and exposed surface area for each experiment. Alternatively, the lack of information around how the media was treated in production could mean that certain particles were treated with different amounts of solvents or drying techniques. A more thorough analysis of the coco coir preparation process will be necessary in future studies, including a pretreatment in the lab itself to ensure homogeneity. No other studies were found in the published literature that analyzed formaldehyde sorption by coco coir in air, so these results cannot be compared.

3.4.4 Activated carbon

Activated carbon was included in these experiments as a control case. It is a well-known sorptive material but it was previously shown that it does not support plant life (Aydogan 2012). Due to the highly sorptive behavior of activated carbon, it was necessary to test only a small amount of activated carbon in order to store the entire breakthrough curve on the meters, which are limited to 500 data points of memory. Therefore, the column was only partially filled with activated carbon, to a height of 2 inches. This made the total volume 0.15 L, the same bulk volume as was used in the coco coir experiments. The average results from the activated carbon experiments are presented in Figure 15, while the raw data from all three experiments is presented in Figure 16.



Figure 15: Breakthrough curve for averaged activated carbon values



Figure 16: Breakthrough curves for the three activated carbon experiments

The results from the activated carbon experiments are summarized in Table 8. The important parameters are listed on the left column; averaged results and the standard deviation from all trials are also presented.

Parameter	Average Result	Standard Deviation (σ)
Sorption potential (mg/g)	174.1	31.3
Breakthrough time (min) (T _B)	3,795	774.9
Retention time (min) (T _R)	5,022	969.3
Equilibrium time (min) (T _E)	6,386.3	839.0
Total time (min) (T _T)	6,519.7	961.7
Throughput (min/min)	120,641.6	83,533.4

Table 8: Results from activated carbon breakthrough curve

In the study performed by Aydogan (2012), 138 g of dry activated carbon reduced 1.64 ppm formaldehyde by an average of 97.6% over 10 hours. This represents a sorption potential of 2.6

mg formaldehyde per g of activated carbon. This result is much lower than the 174.1 mg formaldehyde per g of activated carbon found in this study. This is likely because in the present study, activated carbon was exposed to formaldehyde until it became saturated. The activated carbon in the Aydogan study was only exposed for 10 hours and likely did not become fully saturated before the experiment was stopped. Sorption potentials can be dependent on the type of carbon used to generate the activated carbon (Boonamnuayvitaya et al., 2004). The activated carbon used in the Aydogan study was the same as in this study. Another study using activated carbon derived from sewage sludge resulted in adsorption capacities between 5 and 15 mg per g at an initial concentration of 0.41 mg/m³ (0.33 ppm) and adsorption capacities between 70 and 105 mg per g at an initial concentration of 498 mg/m³ (404.9 ppm) (Wen et al., 2011). These sorption capacities are significantly lower than that found in this study, especially for similar initial concentrations. The amount of activated carbon used in the Wen study was only 0.4 grams, likely resulting in a different flow pattern. It is also possible that since the activated carbon used in that study was from a different carbon source than that used in this study, it had a different inherent sorption capacity.

3.4.5 Total sorption results

To better compare the sorption potentials of the four porous media, the breakthrough curves for all the media are presented together in Figure 17. The average concentration in Chamber 1 is presented, as well as the averaged breakthrough curves for each of the media.



Figure 17: Average breakthrough curves for each of four porous media

Activated carbon was a much better sorbent than any of the other three media, as it required so much more time to become saturated (over 6,000 minutes, as opposed to less than 1,000 minutes for all of the other media). This material was considered as a control for these experiments, since it is widely used for commercial sorption processes. Activated carbon and coco coir were also tested at a much lower volume (0.15 L) than Growstone and expanded clay (0.85 L), to work within the monitor's storage limitations (i.e., they could record up to 500 data points only). Therefore, these breakthrough curves are not directly comparable since they are not normalized to mass or volume. However, both coco coir and activated carbon sorbed more formaldehyde than the other two media, despite their lower volumes, indicating that the relative ranking of breakthrough curves is consistent despite the inconsistencies in volumes. This result was consistent with the sorption potential results, which showed that activated carbon has 3.1 times the sorption potential (on a mass basis) than the next best sorbent, coco coir.

When compared to the results from the study by Aydogan (2012), Growstone and expanded clay sorbed less formaldehyde and activated carbon sorbed more formaldehyde. In the Aydogan study, a closed box model was used where the initial concentration of formaldehyde was higher, and the media were exposed for only 10 hours. Higher sorption would be expected when air flows around the media and more surface area is exposed to formaldehyde. Also, when the initial concentration of formaldehyde is high, the exposed media will sorb it until it is fully saturated. A true maximum will occur when these two factors are maximized. Studies have shown that there is a faster removal rate when the initial concentration of the contaminant is high than when the initial concentration is lower (Kondo et al., 1995). In order to remove the most formaldehyde from the air, thereby reducing the health risks in a building, the contaminant should reach a larger surface area of the sorptive media. This will be possible so long as the residence time is sufficient for the soption to occur. The media should be changed as soon as formaldehyde begins to break through. Thus, from a remediation perspective, it is best to use a media with high sorption potential. It is recommended that a highly sorptive media (such as activated carbon or coco coir) be leveraged within an HVAC system to clean the air and maximize formaldehyde removal.

The average sorption potential, throughput, and characteristic times for each media are presented in Table 9: Important sorption parameters determined for four porous media. The sorption potentials and characteristic times are normalized to the mass of media, while throughputs are already normalized to volume.

	Growstone		Expanded clay		Coco coir		Activated carbon	
	Avg.	σ	Avg.	σ	Avg.	σ	Avg.	σ
Sorption potential (mg/g)	0.24	0.05	0.57	0.07	42.4	13.6	174.1	31.3
Breakthrough time (min/g) (T _B)	0.01	1.2	0.03	4.9	5.3	59.1	72.6	774.9
Retention time (min/g) (T _R)	0.09	8	0.3	25.0	11.7	126.3	96.0	969.3
Equilibrium time (min/g) (T _E)	0.3	12.7	0.8	26.6	35.7	153.0	122.1	839.0
Total time (min/g) (T _T)	0.4	10.0	0.8	30.5	42.5	53.3	124.7	961.7
Throughput (min/min)	89.6	39.9	548.5	181.1	6,562.5	4,736.2	120,641.6	83,533.4

Table 9: Important sorption parameters determined for four porous media

The sorption potentials and throughputs of each media are presented in Figure 18 and Figure 19. Error bars represent the standard deviations for the three trials for each media. Activated carbon has a high affinity for formaldehyde sorption (Bansal et al., 2005); therefore, its sorption potential is over four times higher than that of coco coir. There is no published information about the chemical affinity of Growstone, expanded clay, or coco coir.



Figure 18: Comparison of average sorption potentials by media



Figure 19: Comparison of average throughputs by media

Activated carbon had both the highest sorption potential and throughput, followed by coco coir, expanded clay, and Growstone, as shown in Figures 18 and 19. This ranking is the same for characteristic times. These results are consistent with those found in the Aydogan (2012) study, with did not include coco coir. Untreated coco coir is a better sorbent of formaldehyde than

Chapter 4: Biological Experiments

4.1 Introduction

Plants have been shown to remove volatile contaminants from indoor air, including formaldehyde (Yang et al., 2009). Different plants have different formaldehyde removal efficiencies and one study showed ferns to be the group of plants that remove the most formaldehyde from the air (Kim et al., 2010). This removal can be attributed in part to above-air plant parts, but microorganisms located in the plant growth media can also be important to removal of VOC's (Wolverton et al., 2002). The rhizosphere (root zone of a plant) is highly favorable for the proliferation of microbes, some of which have the ability to degrade contaminants (McGuinness, 2009). Plants exposed to a VOC have been shown to better remove that VOC post-exposure (Kim et al., 2011), possibly due to gene adaptation in the rhizosphere (Sarand et al., 1999). There is, however, scant research about plants' exposure to formaldehyde and its potential effect on their rhizosphere bacteria (Kim, 2008; Wolverton, 2002).

Previous studies have looked at biological activity of media exposed to formaldehyde and shown that microbes can survive in porous media after being exposed to formaldehyde (Aydogan, 2012); however, toxicity thresholds for these microbes were not established. Exceeding the toxicity threshold in a bioremediation process can effectively halt the entire process (Ruggierro, 2005). The present study looked at the biological activity in four porous media and several potting and agricultural soils. Biological activity, or viability, was determined by the survival and growth of any biological organism on biological growth media, described in detail in section 4.2.3. There are a number of ways to assess the remediation potential of the rhizosphere, but the presence of native microorganisms with the ability to reproduce and generate colony-forming units (CFU's) after exposure to formaldehyde is a basic indicator that microorganisms can

tolerate the contaminant (McGuinness, 2009). In this study, the ability of rhizosphere bacteria to survive exposure to varying levels of gaseous formaldehyde was evaluated with a mix of qualitative (i.e., visible units) and quantitative methods (CFU's). For all of the experiments presented here, visible microbial growth was indicative of and reported as microbial survival.

4.2 Materials

4.2.1 Rhizosphere soils

In this study, 3 houseplant soils and 3 agricultural soils were tested for their biological activity. Each houseplant soil sample (approximately 45 mL) was extracted from the rhizosphere of the plant and mixed well before use. The houseplant soils were likely commercial potting mixes and were obtained from 3 indoor sites: an office, an apartment and a tire shop. The samples were removed with plastic spoons and placed into 50 mL test tubes, and stored at 4°C until needed for the experiments. Formaldehyde levels in the rooms where the potted plants were located were monitored for 24 hours prior to soil sample removal. Formaldehyde monitoring was done using a HalTech HFX105 formaldehyde meters at a sampling rate of once per every nine minutes. All locations registered zero concentrations of formaldehyde during the monitoring period, except the apartment, which had a single reading at 0.27 ppm. This was likely due to brief cigarette smoking in the apartment that day. The background concentration of formaldehyde was 0 ppm. Three outdoor agricultural soils were obtained from Dr. Jorge Vivanco's lab at Colorado State University and were used for comparison since outdoor levels of formaldehyde are typically near zero (Tang et al., 2009). These soils were collected for another study and originated from 3 different agricultural plants:

- Ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*)
- Corn (*Zea mays*)
- Arabidopsis (Arabidopsis thaliana)

The first soil, referred here as Ponderosa pine, was collected from Young's Gulch, CO, where ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) is the dominant overstory species. The second outdoor soil was collected from the Colorado State University Agricultural Research, Development and Extension Center (ARDEC) in Fort Collins, Colorado, where strip-tilled, continuous corn has been grown since 2009. This soil was labeled Corn (*Zea mays*) in this study. The third soil, referred to as Arabidopsis soil, was obtained from naturally-growing plant patches of *Arabidopsis thaliana* at the Michigan Extension Station in Benton Harbor, MI. All samples were removed from 0-5 cm below the soil surface and within 240 cm from the base of three plants from each site. All soils from each site were collected in July, 2011, pooled, and homogenized by hand after collection. The samples were stored at 4°C until use (Zolla et al., 2013). No other soil characterization was performed (soil type, porosity, organic content, etc.) on either indoor or outdoor soils.

The following indoor soils were also studied:

 Soil from a potted Umbrella tree (*Schefflera arboricola*) located in an office at the University of Colorado Boulder. The sample was labeled A-EC. This soil was selected because some office occupants had previously complained of symptoms characteristic of Sick Building Syndrome, potentially due to VOC exposure.

- Soil from a potted Snake plant (*Sansevieria trifasciata*) in a commercial tire shop located in Boulder, Colorado. The sample was labeled B-GY. This soil was selected because auto body shops and automobile exhaust are known sources of VOC's (Moser, 2000).
- Soil from a potted Spider plant (*Chlorophytum comosum*) located in a residential apartment in Boulder, Colorado (labeled C-MC). This soil was selected because residential areas have been shown to have formaldehyde emissions from building materials (Pickrell et al., 1983).

4.2.2 Porous media

In addition to the 6 soils studied (Rhizosphere soils), the four porous media evaluated for sorption in Chapter 3 were also tested for their biological activity. These materials are described in detail in Section 3.2.1 (Porous Media). These media were tested to assess their potential use as biofilters, to simultaneously sorb and promote degradation of gaseous formaldehyde.

4.2.3 Bacterial growth media

Both liquid and solid growth media were used in these experiments. There is no published information about potential formaldehyde-resistant microbial content of the porous media and soils used in this study; therefore, a non-selective growth media was initially used. Luria Bertani (LB) growth medium was used for all bacterial work, as it does not preferentially grow any one type of microorganism. Both bacteria and fungi can grow on LB medium, though it tends to be used primarily for bacterial studies (Pedersen, 1992). For plate studies using solid medium, 2% by mass LB broth (LB Broth Base, powder (Lennox L Broth Base), 12780029, Life Technologies) and 1.5% by mass agar (Select Agar powder, Invitrogen, 30391-023, Life

Technologies) was used. For batch studies using liquid medium, 2% by mass LB broth was used.

The medium was autoclaved and allowed to cool to room temperature before formaldehyde or

sample addition.

4.3 Methods

A number of experiments were conducted in this study. They are described individually in the following sections, and summarized in Table 10.

Experiment	Objective	HCHO Concentrations (mMol)	Temperature (°C)	Incubation time (hours)	Bacterial Growth Media	Tested Soil/Media
4.3.1	To determine the formaldehyde- resistance of microbes from three indoor potting soils	0, 1, 4, 10	30	48	LB Agar	A-EC B-GY C-MC
4.3.2	To determine whether microbes from experiment 4.3.1 were still present in A-EC potting soils after nine months of clean air exposure	0, 10, 20	37	24	LB Agar	A-EC
4.3.3	To determine whether exposing microbes from Experiment 4.3.2 to additional formaldehyde could regenerate formaldehyde resistance	0, 1, 4, 10	37	24	LB Agar	A-EC with 5 and 10 mM formaldehyde added
4.3.4	To determine whether microbes from indoor and outdoor soils could survive with formaldehyde added to the soil	0, 10	30	48	LB Agar	A-EC, Pinus ponderosa, Zea mays, Arabidopsis thaliana with 5 and 10 mM formaldehyde added

Table 10: Summary of biological experiments

4.3.5	To determine the maximum tolerable concentration of formaldehyde for resistant microbes isolated from Experiments 4.3.1 and 4.3.5	15, 20, 30, 40	30	48	Liquid LB	A-EC, Pinus ponderosa, Zea mays, Arabidopsis thaliana with 5 and 10 mM formaldehyde added; A-EC with no formaldehyde added
4.3.6	To determine whether formaldehyde- resistant microbes could utilize formaldehyde as a carbon source	0, 10	30	48	M9 salts + Agar, M9 salts + Glucose + Agar, M9 salts + Formaldehyde + Agar	A-EC, Pinus ponderosa, Zea mays, Arabidopsis thaliana with 5 and 10 mM formaldehyde added; A-EC with no formaldehyde added
4.3.7	To determine the formaldehyde resistance of microbes from four untreated porous media	0, 1, 4, 10	37	24	LB Agar	Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, coco coir, and activated carbon
4.3.8	To determine whether exposing microbes from untreated porous media to formaldehyde could increase their formaldehyde resistance	0, 1, 4, 10	37	24	LB Agar	Growstone, Hydroton expanded clay, coco coir, and activated carbon saturated with formaldehyde

4.3.1 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in potting soils

The objective of this experiment was to determine whether native populations of microbes in the test soils could survive on nonzero concentrations of formaldehyde. It was postulated that survival would indicate that soil-native microbes have resistance to formaldehyde exposure at that level. First, only populations of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in three indoor soil samples were qualitatively studied. Soil slurries were prepared with 1 g of each sample in 9 mL of autoclaved, 5% NaCl solution, then shaken for 30 minutes, as described by Zolla et al. (2013). Petri dishes with solid media were prepared using 2% mass concentration of LB broth powder

and 1.5% mass concentration of agar powder in deionized water, which was then autoclaved and allowed to cool before formaldehyde was added. Thirty-seven percent (37%) by volume formalin was added in sufficient quantities to produce concentrations of 1 millimolar (mM) (36.8 ppm), 4 mM (147.3 ppm), and 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde. A 0 mM (0 ppm) concentration was used as a control. These were concentrations commonly used in the Vivanco lab, utilized as a quick screening test to determine the level of a compound that the microbes could withstand in solid media. Approximately 20 mL of formaldehyde solution was added to each sterile Petri dish and allowed to cool to room temperature (about 20 minutes). Twenty (20) μ L of the soil slurry was pipetted into and spread across each plate. Each concentration for each soil sample was tested in triplicate. These plates were incubated at 30°C for 48 hours and then the presence or absence of colony growth was observed and recorded. This temperature was selected to optimize soil fungal and bacterial growth, as described by Pietikainen et al. (2005). CFU's in these plates were not counted; therefore, these results only report whether or not any growth was visible (referred here as microbial survival), as a proxy for microbial viability. The number of microbes were not assessed so relative growth was not reported. Microbial survival was used to assess the viability of the soil microbes and was used to report results.

4.3.2 Persistence of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in A-EC potting soil after nine months

Nine months after the initial experiment (labeled Time 0), a second experiment was performed (labeled Time 1). In this experiment, the microbial activity of the A-EC soil (*Schefflera arboricola*) was reassessed. This was done to determine whether previously-found microbial resistance to formaldehyde of native soil microbes persisted after nine months of exposure to mostly formaldehyde-free air. A new sample was collected directly from the potted plant,

following the same sampling method as before. Again, the volatile formaldehyde level near the plant was monitored for 24 hours prior to sample collection and it registered 0.00 ppm for that period. Since this potted plant had been transferred from its original office location to a hall in another part of the building, it is likely that it had been exposed to relatively clean air for the nine months prior to the second sampling. Relative humidity and temperature of this air were not measured. The potting soil was collected and prepared following the same methods as in the experiment describe in section 4.3.1. The soil slurry was plated (20 μ L samples) on LB agar plates containing 0 mM (0 ppm), 10 mM (368.4 ppm), and 20 mM (736.7 ppm) formaldehyde. The plates were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C before analysis.

4.3.3 Assessment of microbial survival of A-EC potting soil after re-exposure to formaldehyde

This experiment was performed to test whether re-exposure to formaldehyde could regenerate microbial activity in a soil that had shown prior formaldehyde resistance but subsequently lost it (experiment 4.3.2). This experiment was performed at Time 1. In this experiment, 5 g samples of A-EC soil were inoculated with 5 mM (184.2 ppm) and 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde in 500 μ L water and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. This temperature was higher than used in Experiment 4.3.1 because the bacterial incubators used at the University of Colorado were set at this higher temperature and were not adjusted. The length of time was also shorter because there was already a high level of growth on the plates—another 24 hours would have caused colony masking. The samples were then plated on 0 mM (0 ppm), 1 mM (36.8 ppm), 4 mM (147.3 ppm), and 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde in LB agar medium and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C.

4.3.4 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in soils with added formaldehyde

In this experiment, the 3 agricultural soils and the A-EC soil were exposed to formaldehyde concentrations of 5 mM and 10 mM for 24 hours at 23°C. The survival of soil microbes was qualitatively assessed visually. Five (5) g of each soil were isolated in separate 25 mL sterile plastic test tubes and made in duplicate. Half of the tubes were moistened with 500 μ L of water containing 100 mM (3,683.4 ppm) formaldehyde (to reach a concentration of 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde in the soil) and the other half with 250 μ L of the same 100 mM (3,683.4 ppm) solution with an additional 250 μ L of clean water (to reach a concentration of 5 mM (184.2 ppm) formaldehyde in the soil). All eight samples were then incubated in a growth chamber under full-spectrum fluorescent lights at 25°C for 24 hours.

These soil samples were made into slurries as described in Experiment 4.3.1. Twenty (20) μ L of each slurry were then plated onto 10 mM (369.3 ppm) formaldehyde LB agar plates in triplicate, with 0 mM (0 ppm) LB agar plates used as a control. This concentration was used because the results from Experiment 4.3.1 indicated that soil microbes were still viable on 10 mM formaldehyde for some samples. These plates were incubated at 30°C for 24 hours, after which growth was observed and results recorded.

Microbial colonies from this experiment were then isolated for use in Experiment 4.3.5.

4.3.5 Maximum formaldehyde levels for survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes

In this experiment, ten colonies from the soils tested in section 4.3.4 were used to determine the level of formaldehyde at which these microbes could survive. Of these colonies, 3 were taken

from the A-EC plates at 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde, 3 from the *Pinus ponderosa* plates at 10 mM formaldehyde, 2 from the *Zea mays* plates at 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde and 2 from the *Arabidopsis thaliana* plates at 5 mM (184.2 ppm) formaldehyde. Four additional colonies from A-EC soil slurry (exposed to 10 mM) were isolated from Experiment 4.3.1 and used here. Briefly, the colonies were isolated in 3 mL of liquid 2% LB broth and incubated in a shaker at 200 rpm and 30°C for 24 hours. Then, 5 μ L of each isolate was streaked onto a solid LB agar medium plate containing 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde. This was performed to isolate pure strains of each colony to be used in future experiments. All colonies were morphologically similar (small, round, and off-white), though their identity was not verified. These ten colonies had been stored at 4°C for 12 days after the initial 24-hour incubation to retard growth until this experiment could be performed. Aside from this cold incubation, all of the methodology used on colonies 1-4 (listed below) was identical. These colonies were labeled 1-14, according to the following list to identify the soil sample from which they originated:

- 1: A-EC directly from the sample
- 2: A-EC directly from the sample
- 3: A-EC directly from the sample
- 4: A-EC directly from the sample
- 5: A-EC incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 6: A-EC incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 7: A-EC incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 8: Pinus ponderosa incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 9: Pinus ponderosa incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 10: Pinus ponderosa incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 11: Arabidopsis thaliana incubated with 5 mM (184.2 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 12: Arabidopsis thaliana incubated with 5 mM (184.2 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 13: Zea mays incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution
- 14: Zea mays incubated with 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solution

After incubation at 30°C in a shaker for 24 hours, 5 µL samples of these colonies was pipetted into 3 mL liquid LB broth containing 15 mM (552.5 ppm), 20 mM (736.7 ppm), 30 mM (1,105.0 ppm) and 40 mM (1,473.4 ppm) formaldehyde, each tested in duplicate. The tubes were then placed in a shaker at 200 rpm and 30°C for 48 hours, until growth could be observed through visual inspection (determined as apparent turbidity of the solutions). If the solution was still visibly clear, it was considered free of microbes after the incubation period, and the concentration of formaldehyde thereby was considered toxic to the isolated strain. Figure 21 shows pictures of test tubes containing 20 mM formaldehyde (left) and 30 mM formaldehyde (right). Both were from colony 1, after incubation. The tube on the left contained microbes while that on the right was free of microbes.



Figure 20: Comparison of visual opacity to determine microbial presence (Left vial contains microbes, right vial does not)

Turbidity of the samples was not measured; therefore, relative microorganism concentrations are not presented and relative growth cannot be compared. In future research, turbidity should be measured to enable quantitative comparisons of growth among colonies.

4.3.6 Formaldehyde as a growth substrate by formaldehyde-resistant microbes

The objective of this experiment was to determine whether the isolated microbes from potting soils could use formaldehyde as a carbon source. If they could, that would indicate that formaldehyde can be broken down by soil-native microbes. M9 Minimal Salts (Gibco M9 Minimal Salts, A13744-01, Life Technologies) were used as a growth medium in place of LB solution. These salts provide very little nutrition (nitrogen and mineral salts only); therefore, it was expected that formaldehyde would be utilized as a carbon source for microbial growth. Solid agar plates and liquid media tubes were prepared using 56.4 g of M9 salts per 5 liters of solution, along with 10 mM formaldehyde. The 10 colonies showing growth in Experiment 4.3.5 at 15 mM (552.5 ppm) formaldehyde were isolated in glycerol, using 400 μ L of glycerol and 600 μ L of the 15 mM (552.5 ppm) formaldehyde LB solution. These samples were sealed and stored at - 80°C before these experiments. Duplicates from each of these 10 frozen colonies were tested, using 10 μ L of the colony isolate for each plate and for each tube. The plates and tubes were both incubated (tubes shaken at 200 rpm) at 30°C for 48 hours.

The experiment was then repeated, utilizing three different plating media: 1) M9 salts and agar alone (as a control); 2) M9 salts and agar plus 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde (to test if formaldehyde can be utilized alone as a growth substrate); and 3) M9 salts and agar plus 20% glucose by mass (to test if glucose can be used as a growth substrate for these colonies). All 10

frozen colonies were tested on each type of plate in duplicate, using a 10 μ L sample from each colony. These plates were incubated for 24 hours at 30°C.

4.3.7 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of untreated porous media

In this experiment, a slurry from untreated porous media was created using 1 g of the four crushed media mixed with 9 mL of ultrapure water and shaken at 200 rpm for 30 minutes. A volume of 20μ L of each slurry was plated onto triplicate plates (following the same plating protocols as before) at four different concentrations of formaldehyde (0 mM, 1 mM, 4 mM, and 10 mM). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours.

CFU's were quantified in this experiment to determine relative concentrations of microbes in the four different hydroponic growth media.

4.3.8 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of porous media after formaldehyde exposure

It was assumed the porous media were purchased essentially sterile of formaldehyde-resistant microbes and they had not been exposed to formaldehyde in the lab during storage. The survival of the microbial populations in these media was then assessed after exposure to formaldehyde. This experiment determined whether these populations could develop formaldehyde-resistance or formaldehyde-degrading potential. The experiment described in section 4.3.7 was repeated for each of the four porous media exposed to gaseous formaldehyde during the breakthrough experiments (described in sections 3.4.1-3.4.4). The exposure times varied among the media, as each had a different sorption potential. Growstone was exposed for 60 minutes, expanded clay for 205 minutes, coco coir for 805 minutes, and activated carbon for 6,520 minutes. These were
the average total breakthrough times for each of the media across the three breakthrough experiments. Since these media were used in the breakthrough experiments, it was expected that the media would be saturated with formaldehyde. The media were made into slurries following the protocol described in section 4.3.1, immediately after the corresponding breakthrough experiment. The slurry was then plated on LB agar plates containing 0 mM (0 ppm), 1 mM (36.8 ppm), 4 mM (147.3 ppm), and 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde to determine the formaldehyde-resistance of the microbial populations in the plate after formaldehyde exposure. CFU's were quantified in this experiment to determine relative concentrations of microbes in the four exposed hydroponic growth media.

4.4 Results from Biological Experiments

4.4.1 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in potting soils

This experiment assessed the survival of native microbial populations of indoor soils when exposed to 0, 1, 4, and 10 mM formaldehyde. The qualitative results from this experiment are summarized in Table 11, which reports the presence or absence of microbial survival from three indoor soil samples grown on LB agar solid media and varying concentrations of formaldehyde. The tested formaldehyde concentrations (from 0 to 10 mM) in LB agar plates are listed on the left column; the qualitative results of the tested soils are presented on the three right columns. Recall that the A-EC soil originated from a University of Colorado *Schefflera* plant, B-GY is the soil from the tire shop *Sansevieria* plant, and C-MC is the soil from the apartment *Chlorophytum* plant. The result was considered positive if any microbial colonies visibly survived on the plate, indicating that microbes were able to survive on that amount of formaldehyde. The number of

plates that exhibited growth are presented in parentheses (x3 indicates that all three plates had microbial growth).

Concentration	Soil Sample				
Concentration	A-EC	B-GY	С-МС		
0 mM (0 ppm)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)		
1 mM (36.8 ppm)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)		
4 mM (147.3 ppm)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	Yes x3)		
10 mM (368.4 ppm)	Yes (x3)	No	No		

Table 11: Microbial survival from three indoor soil types grown on LB agar solid media withvarying concentrations of formaldehyde

A photo of the 0 mM (0 ppm) and 1 mM (36.8 ppm) plates is presented in Figure 20. The 3 plates in the picture show formaldehyde-resistant microbial activity from A-EC samples. The left dish shows 0 mM formaldehyde concentration plate with CFU's, while the middle and right contain 1 and 4 mM formaldehyde, respectively. All colonies were morphologically similar (small, round and off-white). No DNA sequencing was performed to verify their identity. In future research, it is recommended to perform colony counts to provide quantitative information and improve this initial qualitative assessment.



Figure 21: Visual evidence of formaldehyde-resistant microbial activity in A-EC soils

Results from this experiment showed that only the A-EC soil sample exhibited microbes able to grow at 10 mM (368.4 ppm) concentration of formaldehyde. This sample originated from rhizosphere soil from a *Schefflera arboricola* in an office at the University of Colorado. Although the air in the vicinity of this plant registered 0 ppm formaldehyde for the 24-hour sampling period prior to soil collection, we speculate that this plant may have been exposed to formaldehyde in the past, based on anecdotal information from office occupants. If this exposure occurred, it is conceivable that this plant, and its rhizosphere microorganisms, may have developed some resistance to formaldehyde. According to Kim (2011), exposure to VOC's can cause rhizosphere bacteria to gain resistance to the VOC (Kim et al., 2011).

4.4.2 Persistence of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in A-EC potting soil after nine months In the experiment described in section 4.3.1, microbes from the A-EC soil sample survived at concentrations up to 20 mM (736.7 ppm) formaldehyde. The alleged formaldehyde exposure for this plant and soil could not be corroborated, however. In this experiment, soil from the same plant was retested nine months later to determine if the microbial resistance to formaldehyde initially observed was retained after an additional nine months at the new location where there was no formaldehyde exposure.

Table 12 presents the combined results of the microbial activity over nine months. Results are presented for the initial experiment (Time 0) and the second experiment (Time 1), nine months later. Both qualitative (survival of the microbes) and quantitative activity (number of CFU's for the sample taken after nine months of clean air exposure) are provided at Time 1.

	Sample A-I	CFU		
Concentration	Time 0	Time 1	Time 1	
		(9 months later)		
0 mM (0 ppm)	Yes	Yes	479,513,488	
10 mM (368.4 ppm)	Yes	No	0,0,0	
20 mM (736.7 ppm)	Yes	No	0,0,0	

Table 12: Visible microbial growth over nine months from A-EC soil samples on formaldehyde

The results in Table 11 show that microbial activity was still measurable in this potting soil, but no microbes survived in the presence of formaldehyde at 10 mM (368.4 ppm) or 20 mM formaldehyde (736.7 ppm) for an incubation period of 24 hours. Since microbes from this same soil survived at this formaldehyde level nine months earlier, something about the microbes'

ability to survive on this media was changed. According to some of the office occupants where the alleged formaldehyde exposure took place, the pot had been in that office for an extended (likely years), but unknown, period of time. The pot was then transferred to a new environment, months prior to our experiments. There are three potential reasons for the apparent loss of formaldehyde resistance in this microbial ecosystem. First, we think that the microbes from Experiment 4.3.1 may have been using formaldehyde as a carbon source. If these microbes could degrade formaldehyde by using it as a carbon source and electron donor, then the microbes became dormant or died from lack of growth substrate. Second, if these microbes had a gene that made them resistant to formaldehyde's toxicity, but not able to use formaldehyde as a carbon source, it is possible that this gene was turned off when the formaldehyde exposure was removed. We speculate that the removal from the exposure eventually negated the formaldehyde-resistance the microorganisms had previously displayed. Third, it is possible that the different incubation temperature used for this experiment was too high for the microbes present in Experiment 4.3.1 which survived on 10 and 20 mM formaldehyde. Since soil microbes within buildings are typically not exposed to temperatures as high as 37 °C, this temperature may have been too high. In future experiments, it is recommended to keep the temperature at 30°C since it is better suited for microbial growth studies (Pietikainen et al., 2005).

The results of this experiment led to the next experiment, to determine whether re-exposure to formaldehyde could regenerate resistance in these microbes.

4.4.3 Assessment of microbial survival of A-EC potting soil after re-exposure to formaldehyde This experiment was performed to assess whether exposure to formaldehyde could regenerate the formaldehyde resistance in the soil microbes of A-EC soil samples. Recall that in Experiment 4.3.2, the same microbes that exhibited formaldehyde resistance in Experiment 4.3.1 from A-EC soil lost their apparent resistance. After exposure to formaldehyde at concentrations of 5 mM (184.2 ppm) and 10 mM (368.3 ppm) and incubation for 24 hours at 37°C, the soil microbes exhibited growth on 0 mM (0 ppm) and 1 mM (36.8 ppm) formaldehyde LB agar plates, but there was no survival on the 4 mM (147.3 ppm) plates. This result indicates that microbes in this soil could not survive on concentrations of formaldehyde above 4 mM (147.3 ppm) isolated in a laboratory environment, and at an incubation temperature of 37°C. Table 13 shows the total colony counts and CFU/g soil for A-EC soil re-exposed to either 5 mM (184.2 ppm) or 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde in solution. The concentration of the LB agar plate is shown in the top row, while the concentration of formaldehyde added to the re-exposed soil is presented on the left column, along with the CFU/g soil measured in each soil. CFU/g soil represents an average number of CFU's in a gram of the given soil sample that are able to survive on the given level of formaldehyde. It is a way to measure the "concentration" of microbes. It was not recorded for all biological experiments, but it is recommended that this information be collected in the future.

			CFU			
			0 mM (0 ppm)	1 mM (36.8 ppm)	4 mM (147.3 ppm)	10 mM (368.3 ppm)
	A-EC re-exposed to 5 mM (184.2	CFU (total)	435, 487, 421	10,0,22	0,0,0	0,0,0
sure	ppm)	CFU _{average} /g soil	223,833	5,333	0	0
Expc	A-EC re-exposed to 10 mM (368.3	CFU (total)	411, 387, 458	3,0,12	0,0,0	0,0,0
	ppm)	CFU _{average} /g soil	209,333	2,500	0	0

 Table 13: Microbial growth of A-EC slurry on formaldehyde after exposure to 5 and 10 mM

 formaldehyde solution

Results show bacterial survival on control plates (0 mM formaldehyde), even after the soil was re-exposed to 5 mM (184.2 ppm) and 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde in solution. This re-exposure did not increase the ability of the microbes in the soil to survive on LB agar plates with a formaldehyde concentration of 4 mM (147.3 ppm) or more. It appears that removal from formaldehyde exposure permanently negated microbial survival previously found (in Experiment 4.3.1) at 20 mM (736.7 ppm) in the A-EC potting soil.

4.4.4 Survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes in soils with added formaldehyde

This experiment was performed to determine the survival of soil microbes on various concentrations of formaldehyde after having direct formaldehyde exposure in the soil. This experiment was performed at the beginning of a nine-month period (Time 0). Before this time, the A-EC soil sample likely experienced formaldehyde exposure in its environment, although this cannot be corroborated. The survival of plated soil slurries on 10 mM (368.3 ppm) plates

after incubation with 5 mM (184.2 ppm) and 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde solutions are summarized in Table 14. The tested soil is presented on the left column and the concentration of formaldehyde added to the soil is presented on the top row. The number of plates showing microbial growth are presented in parentheses.

Soil Sampla	Visible microbial growth			
Son Sample	5 mM (184.2 ppm)	10 mM (368.3 ppm)		
A-EC	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)		
Pinus ponderosa	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)		
Zea mays	No	Yes (x1)		
Arabidopsis thaliana	Yes (x2)	No		

Table 14: Visible growth in four soil samples with 5 mM and 10 mM formaldehyde

All of the control plates in this experiment showed survival.

The results showed that the A-EC soil sample contained microbes that survived on 10 mM (368.3 ppm) formaldehyde, both before and after incubation with formaldehyde in an incubation chamber. Soil from *Pinus ponderosa* showed microbial survival after exposure to either 5 mM or 10 mM formaldehyde. *Zea mays* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* soils only showed microbial survival after exposure to 10 mM and 5 mM formaldehyde, respectively. These results may indicate that these are adaptive microbes and only develop the ability to survive in high concentrations of formaldehyde after exposure to this compound. A-EC and *Pinus ponderosa* soils showed microbial survival after exposure to formaldehyde. These soils contain microorganisms with some resistance to formaldehyde at 10 mM (368.3 ppm).

4.4.5 Maximum formaldehyde levels for survival of formaldehyde-resistant microbes

This experiment determined the formaldehyde level at which microbes would no longer survive. The results of this experiment are presented in Table 15. The sample number is presented on the left column, and the concentration of formaldehyde in the LB agar plate is shown in the top row. Positive results indicate survival on the indicated plate, and therefore indicate that formaldehyde at that concentration is not toxic to the microbes. The number of plates exhibiting survival are presented in parentheses.

Sample	Concentration					
	15 mM (552.5 ppm)	20 mM (736.7 ppm)	30 mM (1,105.0 ppm)	40 mM (1,473.4 ppm)		
1	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No	No		
2	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No	No		
3	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No	No		
4	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No	No		
5	No	No	No	No		
6	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		
7	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		
8	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		
9	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		
10	No	No	No	No		
11	No	No	No	No		
12	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		
13	No	No	No	No		
14	Yes (x3)	No	No	No		

Table 15: Growth in colonies 1-14 in liquid LB media at varying formaldehyde concentrations

The results showed survival for colonies 1-4 at or below 20 mM (736.7 ppm) formaldehyde. These microbial colonies were isolated from A-EC soil samples. These colonies had similar visual characteristics but their identities were not determined.

Samples 5-14 did not survive at or above 20 mM (736.7 ppm) formaldehyde. Samples 5, 10, 11 and 13 showed survival at 15 mM (552.5 ppm) formaldehyde. Possible reasons for the survival discrepancies among samples include:

- 1) The colonies were not genetically similar, despite their morphological similarities
- 2) The storage of samples 5-14 for 12 days at 4°C inhibited their survival

Colonies extracted from A-EC soil exhibited the highest formaldehyde resistance, and survived at concentrations up to 20 mM (736.7 ppm). The minimum formaldehyde toxicity levels for these microbes, in these conditions, likely falls between 20 mM (736.7 ppm) and 30 mM (1,105 ppm).

4.4.6 Formaldehyde as a growth substrate by formaldehyde-resistant microbes

This experiment tried to assess whether the ten isolated colonies from the previous experiment that survived on 15 mM formaldehyde could utilize formaldehyde as a carbon source for growth. In the first part of this experiment, testing isolated colonies on M9 minimal salts and formaldehyde alone, no liquid media samples exhibited any survival, and only 3 plate samples showed survival (1, 2, and 5). This result indicated that M9 salts and formaldehyde alone were not readily used as growth substrates, and that a different procedure was needed.

The second part of this experiment utilized three different growth substrates (M9 salts, M9 salts with formaldehyde, and M9 salts with glucose). The growth results are summarized in Table 16. The colony sample number is on the left column and the growth media is on the top row.

Positive results indicate that the colony survived on the indicated media. The number of plates exhibiting survival are presented in parentheses after the qualitative viability result.

Colony	Growth Media					
	M9 Salts and Agar	M9 Salts, Agar, and	M9 Salts, Agar, and			
	(control)	Glucose	10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde			
1	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)			
2	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
3	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
4	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
6	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
7	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
8	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
9	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
12	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			
14	Yes (x3)	Yes (x3)	No			

Table 16: Growth on different substrates for colonies 1-10

Only colony 1 survived on M9 minimal salts and 10 mM (368.4 ppm) formaldehyde. All colonies survived on M9 minimal salts alone (control) indicating they used the salts and agar for all their growth needs. These results indicate that the isolated microbes were able to grow using the 20 μ L of LB solution on each plate in which the colonies were isolated. The experiment

should be repeated, isolating each colony in M9 liquid media before plating, in order to create a truly carbon-free control plate. These results also indicated that the formaldehyde at a concentration of 10 mM (368.4 ppm) acts as a growth suppressant to colonies 1-14 when they have minimal nutrition. With glucose also present, all colonies survived, indicating that glucose is readily used as a carbon source by these microbes.

Toxic formaldehyde concentrations were established at 20 mM in Experiment 4.3.5 for microbes from soil samples. As indicated by increased formaldehyde resistance with sufficient nutrients, these microbes were unable to utilize formaldehyde as a sole growth substrate. This result aligned with formaldehyde's well-known high toxicity to biological organisms (Mirdamadi et al., 2005) and its use as a disinfectant (McDonnell et al., 1999). However, there were soil microbes able to survive at relatively high concentrations of formaldehyde (up to 20 mM) if an alternate carbon source was present. These microbes were present more commonly in soils previously exposed to formaldehyde (Experiment 4.3.3 and Experiment 4.3.4). Formaldehyde may have been: 1) utilized as a co-substrate, 2) degraded in a co-metabolic process to reduce toxicity to the organism itself, or 3) tolerated by the organism when provided with enough nutrition to thrive. Formaldehyde cannot, however, be degraded as a sole growth substrate by these microbes.

4.4.7 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of untreated porous media

This experiment was performed to determine the survival of microbes found in four untreated porous media when incubated with different concentrations of formaldehyde. Table 17 shows the number of CFU's that survived in the four porous media at each formaldehyde concentration.

The porous media tested, and CFU/g measurements, are presented on the left 2 columns and the concentration of formaldehyde in the LB agar media are presented on the second row.

Porous Media		Concentration					
		0 mMol (0 1 mMol (36.8 ppm) ppm)		4 mMol (147.3 ppm)	10 mMol (368.3 ppm)		
Crossetore	CFU (total)	44,0,1	0,0,0	0,0,0	0,0,0		
Growstone	CFU _{average} /g media	7,500	0	0	0		
Expanded clay	CFU (total)	0,0,0	0,0,0	0,0,0	0,0,0		
	CFU _{average} /g media	0	0	0	0		
Coco coir	CFU (total)	651,531,569	235, 221, 202	0,5,0	0,0,0		
	CFU _{average} /g media	291,833	109,667	833	0		
Activated carbon	CFU (total)	0,0,0	0,0,0	0,0,0	0,0,0		
	CFU _{average} /g media	0	0	0	0		

Table 17: Microbial survival on varying concentrations of formaldehyde from four differentporous media

For the most part, these untreated media did not contain microbes resistant to formaldehyde; however, only coco coir and Growstone showed microbial survival at 0 mM formaldehyde concentration. This indicates that expanded clay and activated carbon were relatively sterile as manufactured. Hence, were these to be used as biological filtration media for formaldehyde, microbes would have to be added. This hypothesis was tested in the next experiment. 4.4.8 Formaldehyde-resistant microbial survival of porous media after formaldehyde exposure This experiment was performed to assess whether exposure to formaldehyde could increase the number of CFU from porous media that survived a subsequent exposure to various formaldehyde levels. It was postulated that if total formaldehyde-resistant microbial populations increased, it was due to this initial formaldehyde exposure. Table 18 shows the CFU counts of the three plates for each media and total change from the previous experiment (4.3.7) after formaldehyde exposure. Formaldehyde concentration on the plate is on the top row, and the media are on the left column. Percent increases in CFU counts from the previous experiment are presented in parentheses after the total net increase.

Porous Media		Concentration and Increase							
		0 mM	Net increase (%)	1 mM	Net increase (%)	4 mM	Net increase (%)	10 mM	Net increase (%)
Grow-	CFU per plate	23, 66, 34	78 (178.3 %)	21, 31, 44	96 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)
stone	CFU/g media (average)	20,500	13,000 (173.3 %)	16,000	16,000 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)
Expan- ded clay	CFU per plate	0,0,0	0 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)
	CFU/g media (average)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)
Сосо	CFU per plate	645, 504, 665	63 (3.5%)	580,521 , 588	1031 (156.7 %)	0,0,0	-5 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)
coir	CFU/g media (average)	302,333	10,500 (3.6%)	281,500	171,833 (156.7 %)	0	-833 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)
Activa- ted carbon	CFU per plate	0, 0, 0	0 (N/A)	0, 0, 0	0 (N/A)	0, 0, 0	0 (N/A)	0,0,0	0 (N/A)
	CFU/g media (average)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)	0	0 (N/A)

Table 18: CFU's on porous media and net increase after exposure to formaldehyde

hese results showed a net increase of CFU surviving on 1 mM (36.8 ppm) formaldehyde from the coco coir and Growstone samples. This may indicate that exposing media to formaldehyde increases the formaldehyde resistance of microbial populations, potentially increasing the biodegradation ability of these media. This result is in accordance with a study by Kim et al. (2011), which found increased phytoremediation potential in 27 of 28 evaluated plants after exposure to toluene (Kim et al., 2011). Thus, coco coir, with its ability to support potentially formaldehyde-degrading microbes and sorb formaldehyde with more efficiency than either Growstone or expanded clay, is recommended for further studies of its use in a bioremediation setting.

Chapter 5. Conclusions

Results from the sorption experiments showed that coco coir and activated carbon absorb more formaldehyde on a gram-per-gram basis than Growstone and Hydroton expanded clay. The average throughputs were 67.39, 548.5, 6562.5, and 120,641.6 for Growstone, expanded clay, coco coir, and activated carbon, respectively. Similarly, the sorption potentials at room temperature (73 - 76°F or 22.7 - 24.4°C) for each media were 0.241, 0.572, 42.36, 174.13 mg/g media, respectively. It is expected that, despite formaldehyde's low K_{oc} value, sorbents with more organic content have higher sorption potentials, in general (Delle Site, 2001).

Results from the microbial analysis performed showed that both certain potting and certain agricultural soils had stronger affinities for formaldehyde-resistant microbes than others (notably, the A-EC soil taken from a Schefflera arboricola plant in the University of Colorado's CEAE department). Microbes extracted from the A-EC soil survived on formaldehyde up to 20 mM in an isolated setting. This survival was repressed when other nutrient sources were removed, though some colonies were still able to survive on formaldehyde and M9 minimal salts alone. In addition, these same colonies did not survive on 20 mM formaldehyde after having been refrigerated for 12 days, indicating that freezing weakened their resistance to formaldehyde toxicity. Upon retesting of A-EC soil nine months after initial tests, it was found that the soil microbes could not survive on the same high concentrations of formaldehyde. This indicates that exposure to clean air may cause soil microbes to lose their formaldehyde resistance. These experiments are very preliminary, however, and will need to be repeated in order to draw any solid conclusions. Colony counts will need to be performed in order to fully characterize the microbes in the soils and porous media, and standard incubation temperatures should be used across all experiments.

Of the four porous media, coco coir possesses the strongest ability to support growth of microbes, both before and after formaldehyde exposure. Indeed, after exposure to formaldehyde in the column experiment, a slurry prepared from coco coir was able to grow significantly more microbes on 1 mM formaldehyde LB agar than before (a 156.7% increase). It is not clear whether these microbes use formaldehyde as a growth substrate, they co-metabolize formaldehyde along with some other food source, or whether it is simply tolerated and they have developed some resistance to formaldehyde toxicity. However, given the high throughput of coco coir and its ability to sustain microbial growth after exposure to formaldehyde, it seems like this porous media could be of use as a biological formaldehyde filtration system.

5.1 Practical Implications

The findings of this line of research can have an effect on the purification of indoor air. Since porous media exist that can both sorb formaldehyde and exhibit microbial growth after exposure to formaldehyde (coco coir), it is possible to develop a biological filter for use in air purification processes. If the passive filtration of air becomes more effective, the need for increased ventilation decreases. This in turn reduces the energy consumption, and operating costs, of a building. For low-cost buildings especially, reduces the cost to purify the air is a necessity. Since formaldehyde typically has higher concentrations in low-cost structures (Salthammer et al., 2010), reducing the cost of remediation is vital.

5.2 Future Work

The results of the experimental work performed in this study, while interesting, are not conclusive regarding the bioremediation potential of porous growth media. There are several additional experiments and revisions to experiments that should be performed to further characterize these media.

Breakthrough curves should be obtained at different concentrations in order to develop Freundlich or Langmuir isotherms and fully characterize the media. Information on the sorption potentials of three of these media (Growstone, expanded clay, and activated carbon) at different inlet concentrations can be found in Aydogan (2012). However, in that study, media were tested together rather than isolated, so isotherms for individual media are still needed.

Better characterization of each media, such as surface area, is needed to assess relative sorption sites available, and mechanisms of formaldehyde adsorption. Running the same experiment with wet media (prepared as when determining the water holding capacity) would be advantageous, since formaldehyde is relatively hydrophilic. Increased adsorption could be expected in this case. In addition, relative humidity and temperature should be controlled, since these varied in these experiments.

For all future biological experiments, colony counts should be performed on solid media tests and turbidity concentration readings performed in liquid media. This will allow the researcher to compare relative microbial growth among samples. Only some of the biological experiments were quantified while others were strictly qualitative. In addition, when repeating experiments, temperature should be kept constant at 30 °C, particularly for Experiments 4.3.2, 4.3.3, 4.3.7 and 4.3.8. This is a temperature better suited to microbial growth (Pietikainen et al., 2005).

We recommend all experiments performed with colonies isolated from other experiments be performed within 24 hours of isolating the colony, to prevent loss of viability during storage. This was a concern for Experiment 4.3.5, where colonies stored for 12 days showed no growth, potentially due to the extended storage. When repeating Experiment 4.3.6, colonies should be isolated in M9 minimal salts for 48 hours before being plated on the solid M9 salts media. This will prevent the colonies from utilizing the LB in which they were isolated as a carbon source.

For an additional biological experiment, it would be useful to continue rounds of formaldehyde exposure as in Experiment 4.3.5 to determine if the isolated microbes will grow on increasing concentrations of formaldehyde. It is also advisable to test whether microbes merely tolerate the formaldehyde, or whether they are able to degrade it, either co-metabolically or directly. This can be achieved through the use of Biolog well plates, which show whether carbon dioxide is produced from microbial growth on specific substrates. Once this metabolic information is collected, it would be advantageous to identify the specific microbes involved through DNA sequencing. Then, it would be necessary to determine if inoculation of porous media with these specific microbes is possible, and whether the presence of these microbes in the porous media helps to remove formaldehyde from the indoor environment.

Additional research is needed to establish porous growth media as low-cost formaldehyde treatment systems. This research is a step forward, establishing sorption potential and ability of porous media to support formaldehyde-resistant microbes. Ultimately, the goal is to utilize these systems for air cleaning in low-income commercial and industrial settings, such as nail salons.

References

- Aksu, Zümriye, and Ferda Gönen. "Biosorption of phenol by immobilized activated sludge in a continuous packed bed: prediction of breakthrough curves." Process Biochemistry 39 (2003): 599-613.
- Andreiadis, Eugen S. "Breakthrough Curves Determination of Specific Parameters." Polytechnic University of Bucharest. Chemical Engineering Department. 2005. http://www.andreiadis.net/files/Andreiadis_Breakthrough-curves.pdf
- Appelman, L.M., R.A. Woutersen, A. Zwart, H.E. Falke, and V.J. Feron. "One-year inhalation toxicity study of formaldehyde in male rats with a damaged or undamaged nasal mucosa." Journal of Applied Toxicology 8, 2 (1988): 85-90.
- Arts, Josje H.E., Hans Muijser, C. Frieke Kuper, and Ruud A. Woutersen. "Setting an indoor air exposure limit for formaldehyde: Factors of concern." Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 52, 2 (2008): 189-194.
- Aydogan, Ahu. "Building-Integrated Active Modular Phytoremediation System." Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute (2012): Troy, New York.
- Aydogan, Ahu and Lupita D. Montoya. "Formaldehyde removal by common indoor plant species and various growing media." Atmospheric Environment 45, 16 (2011): 2675-2682.
- Bahmanpour, Ali Mohammad, Andrew Hoadley, and Akshat Tanksale. "Critical review and exergy analysis of formaldehyde production processes." Reviews in Chemical Engineering (2014): Online. Accessed October 31, 2014.

http://www.degruyter.com/view/j/revce.ahead-of-print/revce-2014-0022/revce-2014-0022.xml

Bansal, Roop Chand and Meenakshi Goyal. Activated Carbon Adsorption. CRC Press, 2005.

- Baran, Robert. "Nail Cosmetics: Allergies and Irritations." American Journal of Clinical Dermatology 3, 8 (2002): 547-555.
- Barber, Robert D. and Timothy J. Donohue. "Function of a Glutathione-Dependent Formaldehyde Dehydrogenase in Rhodobacter sphaeroides Formaldehyde Oxidation and Assimilation." Biochemistry 37 (1998): 530-537.
- Bevan, M., I. Bancroft, E. Bent, K. Love, H. Goodman, C. Dean, R. Bergkamp, W. Dirkse, M. Van Staveren, W. Stiekema, L. Drost, P. Ridley, S.-A. Hudson, K. Patel, G. Murphy, P. Piffanelli, H. Wedler, E. Wedler, R. Wambutt, T. Weitzenegger, T. M. Pohl, N. Terryn, J. Gielen, R. Villarroel, R. De Clerck, M. Van Montagu, A. Lecharny, S. Auborg, I. Gy, M. Kreis, N. Lao, T. Kavanagh, S. Hempel, P. Kotter, K.-D. Entian, M. Rieger, M. Schaeffer, B. Funk, S. Mueller-Auer, M. Silvey, R. James, A. Montfort, A. Pons, P. Puigdomenech, A. Douka, E. Voukelatou, D. Milioni, P. Hatzopoulos, E. Piravandi, B. Obermaier, H. Hilbert, A. Dl[uum1]|sterhl[oum1]|ft, T. Moores, J. D. G. Jones, T. Eneva, K. Palme, V. Benes, S. Rechman, W. Ansorge, R. Cooke, C. Berger, M. Delseny, M. Voet, G. Volckaert, H.-W. Mewes, S. Klosterman, C. Schueller & N. Chalwatzis.
 "Analysis of 1.9l[thinsp]|Mb of contiguous sequence from chromosome 4 of Arabidopsis thaliana." Nature 391 (1998): 485-488.

- Boethling, Robert S. and Martin Alexander. "Effect of Concentration of Organic Chemicals on Their Biodegradation by Natural Microbial Communities." Applied and Environmental Microbiology 37, 6 (1979): 1211-1216.
- Boonamnuayvitaya, Virote, Srisuda Sae-ung, and Wiwut Tanthapanichakon. "Preparation of activated carbons from coffee residue for the adsorption of formaldehyde." Separation and Purification Technology 42, 2 (2005): 159-168.
- Bufalini, J.J., B.W. Gay, B.W., Jr, and K.L. Brubaker. "Hydrogen peroxide permation from formaldehyde photooxidation and its presence in urban atmospheres." Environmental Science and Technology 6, 9 (1972): 816-821.
- Burge, P.S. "Sick Building Syndrome." Occupational & Environmental Medicine 61 (2004): 185-190.
- California Environmental Protection Agency. "Residential Cooking Exposure Study Finds Unhealthful Levels." California Environmental Protection Agency Air Resources Board. September, 2014. Web. Accessed October 25, 2014. http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/cookingstudy.pdf
- Carbon Activated Corp. "Products: Coconut." Web. Accessed October 21, 2014. http://www.activatedcarbon.com/products/coconut/
- Carlier, P, H Hannachi, and G Mouvier. "The Chemistry of Carbonyl Compounds in the Atmosphere—A Review." Atmospheric Environment 20 (1986): 2079-2099.
- Chowdury, Z.Z., S. M. Zain, A. K. Rashid, R. F. Rafique, and K. Khalid. "Breakthrough Curve Analysis for Column Dynamics Sorption of Mn(II) Ions from Wastewater by Using

Mangostana garcinia Peel-Based Granular-Activated Carbon." Journal of Chemistry 2013 (2013): 1-8.

Conrad, Kathrine and Hans Christian Bruun Hansen. "Sorption of zinc and lead on coir." Bioresource Technology 98, 1 (2007): 89-97.

Cornell University and Penn State University. (2009). "Environmental Inquiry."

- Darlington, Alan and Michael Dixon. "The Biofiltration of Indoor Air III: Air Flux and Temperature and Removal of VOC's." Environmental Science and Technology 35, 1 (2001): 240-246.
- De Groot, Anton C., Mari-Ann Flyvholm, Gerda Lensen, Torkil Menne, and Pieter-Jan Coenraads. "Formaldehyde-releasers: relationship to formaldehyde contact allergy. Contact allergy to formaldehyde and inventory of formaldehyde-releasers." Contact Dermatitis 61, 2 (2009): 63-85.
- De Kempeneer, L., B. Sercu, W. Vanbrabrant, H. Van Langenhove, W. Verstraete. "Bioaugmentation of the phyllosphere for the removal of toluene from indoor air." Applied Microbiology Biotechnology 64 (2004):284–288.
- Delle Site, Alessandro. "Factors Affecting Sorption of Organic Compounds in Natural Sorbent/Water Systems and Sorption Coefficients for Selected Pollutants. A Review."
 Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data 30, 187 (2001): 187-439.

Department of Horticulture, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AK, 2008.

- Duong, Anh, Craig Steinmaus, Cliona M. McHale, Charles P. Vaughan, and Luoping Zhang.
 "Reproductive and developmental toxicity of formaldehyde: A systematic review."
 Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research 728, 3 (2011): 118-138.
- Evans, Michael R. "Physical Properties of and Plant Growth in Peat-based Root Substrates Containing Glass-based Aggregate, Perlite, and Parboiled Fresh Rice Hulls." HortTechnology 21 (2011): 30-34.
- Fifth Season Gardening. "Et Tu, Hydroton?" July 26, 2012. Web. Accessed October 23, 2014. http://fifthseasongardening.com/et-tu-hydroton>
- Fjeld, Tove, Bo Veiersted, Leiv Sandvik, Geir Riise, and Finn Levy. "The Effect of Indoor Foliage Plants on Health and Discomfort Symptoms among Office Workers." Indoor Built Environment 7 (1998): 204-209.
- Geiss, Otmar, Georgios Giannopoulos, Salvatore Tirendi, Josefa Barrero-Moreno, Bo R. Larsen, Dimitrios Kotzias. "The AIRMEX study - VOC measurements in public buildings and schools/kindergartens in eleven European cities: Statistical analysis of the data." Atmospheric Environment 45, 22 (2011): 3676-3684.
- Gilbert, Nicolas L., Mireille Guay, J. David Miller, Stan Judek, Cecilia C. Chan, and Robert E.
 Dales. "Levels and determinants of formaldehyde, acetaldehyde and acrolein in residential indoor air in Prince Edward Island, Canada." Environmental Research 99, 1 (2005): 11-17.
- Godish, T.J. Indoor Air Pollution Control, 1st ed., Lewis Publishers, Chelsea, MI, 1989.

- Goldin, Laura J., Liza Ansher, Ariana Berlin, Jenny Cheng, Deena Kanopkin, Anna Khazan,
 Meda Kisivuli, Molly Lortie, Emily Bunker Peterson, Laura Pohl, Sam Porter, Vivian
 Zeng, Tiffany Skogstrom, Matt A. Fragala, Theodore A. Myatt, James H. Stewart, Joseph
 G. Allen. "Indoor Air Quality Survey of Nail Salons in Boston." Journal of Immigrant
 Minority Health 16 (2014): 508-514.
- Growstone. "GS-1 Hydro Stones." 2011. Web. Accessed October 22, 2014. http://www.growstone.com/hydroponic-substrate/
- Heck H d'A, Casanova-Schmitz M, Dodd PB, Schachter EN, Witek TJ, Tosun T.
 "Formaldehyde (CH2O) concentrations in the blood of humans and Fischer-344 rats
 exposed to CH2O under controlled conditions." American Industrial Hygiene Association
 journal 46 (1985): 1–3.
- Heck H d'A, Chin TY, Schmitz MC. "Distribution of [14C] formaldehyde in rats after inhalation exposure." Gibson JE, ed. Formaldehyde toxicity (1983): Hemisphere Publishing, 26–37.
- Hempel, John, Hedvig von Bahr-Lindstrom, and Hans Jornvall. "Aldehyde dehydrogenase from human liver." European Journal of Biochemistry 141 (1984): 21-35.
- Hidalgo, A., A. Lopategi, M. Prieto, J.L. Serra, and M.J. Llama. "Formaldehyde removal in synthetic and industrial wastewater by Rhodococcus erythropolis UPV-1." Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 58, 2 (2002): 260-264.
- Hodgson, A.T., H. Destaillats, D. P. Sullivan, and W. J. Fisk. "Performance of ultraviolet photocatalytic oxidation for indoor air cleaning applications." Indoor Air 17 (2007): 305-316.

- Irga, P.J., F.R. Torpy, M.D. Burchett. "Can hydroculture be used to enhance the performance of indoor plants for the removal of air pollutants?" Atmospheric Environment 77 (2013):267-271.
- James, C. Andrew, Gang Xin, Sharon L. Doty, and Stuart E. Strand. "Degradation of Low Molecular Weight Volatile Organic Compounds by Plants Genetically Modified with Mammalian Cytochrome P450 2E1." Environmental Science and Technology 42 (2008): 289-293.
- Jin, Cuili, Xiaojian Zhou, Haitao Zhao, Ximei Liu, and Ke Feng. "Comparison of Formaldehyde Removal Capacity Between Hedera helix and Melissa officinalis." Asian Journal of Chemistry 25, 7 (2013): 3823-3826.

Jones, A.P. "Indoor Air Quality and Health." Atmospheric Environment 33 (1999):4535-4564.

- Kajitvichyanukula, Puangrat, Ming-Chun Lub, and Aditsuda Jamroensanc. "Formaldehyde degradation in the presence of methanol by photo-Fenton process." Journal of Environmental Management 86, 3 (2008): 545-553.
- Kavitha, D. and C. Namasivayam. "Experimental and kinetic studies on methylene blue adsorption by coir pith carbon" Bioresource Technology 98, 1 (2007): 14-21.
- Kim, Ki-Hyun, Shamin Ara Jahan, and Jeong-Tang Lee. "Exposure to Formaldehyde and Its Potential Human Health Hazards." Journal of Environmental Science and Health 29, 4 (2011): 277-299.

- Kim, Kwang Jin, Eun Ha Yoo, Myeong Il Jeong, Jeong Seob Song, and Seung Youn Lee."Changes in the Phytoremediation Potential of Indoor Plants with Exposure to Toluene." HortScience 46, 12 (2011): 1646-1649.
- Kim, Kwang Jin and Hyoung Deug Kim. "Development of Model and Calculating Equation for Rate of Volatile Formaldehyde Removal of Indoor Plants." Horticulture, Environment, and Biotechnology 49(3) (2008): 155-161.
- Konopinski, Virgil J. "Formaldehyde in Office and Commercial Environments." American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal 44,3 (1983): 205-208.
- Liegel, Leon H, and Charles R Venator. "A Technical Guide for Forest Nursery Management in the Caribbean and Latin America. General Technical Report So-67." Orleans, LA (USA): USDA Forest Service, Southern Forest Experiment Station., 1987.
- Liteplo, R.G., R. Beauchamp, M.E. Meek, and R. Chénier. "Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 40: Formaldehyde." World Health Organization. Health Canada, Environment Canada, United Nations Environment Programme, International Labour Organization, and Inter-Organization Programme for the Sound Management of Chemicals. Geneva, 2002.
- Liu, Xiangxuan, Jiantao Liang, and Xuanjun Wang. "Kinetics and Reaction Pathways of Formaldehyde Degradation Using the UV-Fenton Method." Water Environment Research 83, 5 (2011): 418-426.

Lockwood, Charles. "Building the Green Way." Harvard Business Review (2006): 1-9.

- Ma, Chanjuan, Xinghua Li, and Tianle Zhu. "Removal of low-concentration formaldehyde in air by adsorption on activated carbon modified by hexamethylene diamine." Carbon 49, 8 (2011): 2873-2875.
- Macedo, Jeremias de Souza, Nivan Bezerra da Costa Júnior, Luis Eduardo Almeida, Eunice Fragoso da Silva Vieira, Antonio Reinaldo Cestari, Iara de Fátima Gimenez, Neftali Lênin Villarreal Carreño, and Ledjane Silva Barreto. "Kinetic and calorimetric study of the adsorption of dyes on mesoporous activated carbon prepared from coconut coir dust." Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 298, 2 (2006): 515-522.
- McDonnell, Gerald and A. Denver Russell. "Antiseptics and Disinfectants: Activity, Action, and Resistance." Clinical Microbiology Reviews 12, 1 (1999): 147-179.
- McCullough, B.D. and David A. Heiser. "On the accuracy of statistical procedures in Microsoft Excel 2007." Computational Statistics and Data Analysis 52 (2008): 4570-4578.
- McGuinness, Martina and David Dowling. "Plant-Associated Bacterial Degradation of Toxic Organic Compounds in Soil." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 6 (2009): 2226-2247.
- Mirdamadi, Saeed, Afsaneh Rajabi, Pooneh Khalilzadeh, Dariush Norozian, Azim Akbarzadeh, and Farzaneh Aziz Mohseni. "Isolation of bacteria able to metabolize high concentrations of formaldehyde." World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology 21 (2005): 1299-1301.
- Moser, S. "Environmental Contaminants Affect Childhood Asthma." Citizens for a Safe Learning Environment. Nova Scotia, Canada. 2000. Web. Accessed October 31, 2014. http://casle.ca/Portals/0/articles/IAQandAsthma.pdf

- Moteleb, Moustafa A., Makram T. Suidan, Jaeyung Kim, Stephen W. Maloney. "Pertubated loading of a formaldehyde waste in an anaerobic granular activated carbon fluidized bed reactor." Water Research 36, 15 (2002): 3775-3785.
- Namasivayam, C. and D. Kavitha. "Removal of Congo Red from water by adsorption onto activated carbon prepared from coir pith, an agricultural solid waste." Dyes and Pigments 54,1 (2002): 47-58.
- Namasivayam, C. and D. Sangeetha. "Application of coconut coir pith for the removal of sulfate and other anions from water." Desalination 219, 1-3 (2008): 1-13.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. "Formaldehyde." Web. Accessed October 18, 2014. http://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/toc/summary_toc.cgi?tocid=351&cid=712
- Nielsen, Gunnar Damgard and Peder Wolkoff. "Cancer effects of formaldehyde: a proposal for an indoor air guideline value." Archives of Toxicology 84, 6 (2010): 423-446.
- Noguchi, Tetsuro, Akira Fujishima, Phillip Sawunyama, and Kazuhito Hashimoto. "Photocatalytic Degradation of Formaldehyde Using TiO2 Film." Environmental Science and Technology 32, 23 (1998): 3831-3833.
- Noll, Kenneth E. "Adsorption Technology for Air and Water Pollution Control." CRC Press: 1991.
- Occupational Health and Safety Administration. "Formaldehyde: Occupational Health and Safety Standards." Toxic and Hazardous Substances. U.S. Department of Labor. 2014. Web. Accessed October 25, 2014.

<https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show_document?p_table=STANDARDS& p_id=10075>

Occupational Safety and Health Administration. "OSHA Fact Sheet: Formaldehyde." 2011.

- Orwell, Ralph L., Ronald A. Wood, Margaret D. Burchett, Jane Tarran and Fraser Torpy. "The Potted-Plant Microcosm Substantially Reduced Indoor Air VOC Pollution: II. Laboratory Study." Water, Air and Soil Pollution 177 (2006): 59-80.
- Pedersen, Jens Christian. "Natamycin as a Fungicide in Agar Media." Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58, 3 (1992): 1064-1066.
- Pedersen, Lars-Flemming and Per Bovbjerg Pedersen. "Temperature-Dependent Formaldehyde
 Degradation in Trickling Filters." North American Journal of Aquaculture 68, 3 (2006):
 230-234.
- Pereira, N.S. and M. Zaiat. "Degradation of formaldehyde in anaerobic sequencing batch biofilm reactor (ASBBR)." Journal of Hazardous Materials 163, 2-3 (2009): 777-782.
- Persily, Andrew K. "Evaluating Building IAQ and Ventilation with Indoor Carbon Dioxide." ASHRAE (1997).
- Pickrell, J.A., L.C. Griffis, and C.H. Hobbs. "Formaldehyde Release Rate Coefficients from Selected Consumer Products." Environmental Science and Technology 17 (1983): 753-757.
- Pienaar, D. and N.J.J. Combrink. "Substrates for soil-less Disa production." South African Journal of Plant and Soil 25, 2 (2008): 127-129.

- Pietikainen, Janna, Marie Pettersson, and Erland Baath. "Comparison of temperature effects on soil respiration and bacterial and fungal growth rates." FEMS Microbiology Ecology 52, 1 (2005): 49-58.
- Price, Phillip N. and Max H. Sherman. "Ventilation Behavior and Household Characteristics in New California Houses." Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Environmental Energy Technologies Division (2006): 1-84.
- Rietbrock N. "Kinetics and pathways of methanol metabolism in rats." Experimental pathology and pharmacology 263 (1969):88–105.
- Ruggiero, Christy E., Hakim Boukhalfa, Jennifer H. Forsythe, Joseph G. Lack, Larry E. Hersman, and Mary P. Neu. "Actinide and metal toxicity to prospective bioremediation bacteria." Environmental Microbiology 7, 1 (2005): 88-97.
- SaiHua, Huang, Chen NengChang, Zheng YuJi, Xu ShengGuang, and Liu TingLin. "Metabolic characteristics of carbon sources of three strains by formaldehyde-degrading fungi."
- Salonen, Heidi J., Anna-Liisa Pasanen, Sanna K. Lappalainen, Henri M. Riuttala, Tapani M.
 Tuomi, Pertti O. Pasanen, Beatrice C. Bäck and Kari E. Reijula. "Airborne
 Concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds, Formaldehyde and Ammonia in Finnish
 Office Buildings with Suspected Indoor Air Problems." Journal of Occupational and
 Environmental Hygiene 6, 3 (2009): 200-209.
- Salthammer, Tunga, Sibel Mentese, and Rainer Marutzky. "Formaldehyde in the Indoor Environment." Chemical Reviews 110 (2010): 2536-2572.

- Sarand, Inga, Heikki Haario, Kirsten S. Jorgensen, and Martin Romantschuk. "Effect of inoculation of a TOL plasmid containing mycorrhizosphere bacteriumon development of Scots pine seedlings, their mycorrhizosphere and the microbial flora in *m*-toluene-amended soil." FEMS Microbiology Ecology 31 (2000): 127-141.
- Schmitz, Heribert, Ute Hilgers, and Manfred Weidner. "Assimilation and metabolism of formaldehyde by leaves appear unlikely to be of value for indoor air purification." New Phytologist 147 (2000): 307-315.
- Sekine, Yoshika and Atsushi Nishimura. "Removal of formaldehyde from indoor air by passive type air-cleaning materials." Atmospheric Environment 35, 11 (2001): 2001-2007.
- Sepännen, O.A., W.J. Fisk, and M.J. Mendell. "Association of Ventilation Rates and CO₂
 Concentrations with Health and Other Responses in Commercial and Institutional Buildings." Indoor Air 9, 4 (1999): 226-252.
- Singh, Tony Sarvinder and K.K. Pant. "Experimental and modelling studies on fixed bed adsorption of As(III) ions from aqueous solution." Separation and Purification Technology 48, 3 (2006): 288-296.
- Sircar, S., T.C. Golden, and M.B. Rao. "Activated Carbon for Gas Separation and Storage." Carbon 34, 1 (1996): 1-12.
- Spengler, John and Gary Adamkiewicz. "Indoor Air Pollution: An Old Problem with New Challenges." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 6 (2009): 2880-2882.

- Sriprapat, Wararat, Parinda Suksabye, Sirintip Areephak, Polawat Klantup, Atcharaphan Waraha, Anuchit Sawattan, PaitipThiravetyan. "Uptake of toluene and ethylbenzene by plants: Removal of volatile indoor air contaminants." Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 102 (2014): 147-151.
- "Sunleaves Classic Coir Brick." Sunleaves Garden Products. Web. Accessed October 21, 2014. http://www.sunleaves.com/detail.asp?sku=SCCB300>
- Tang, Xiaojiang, Yang Bai, Anh Duong, Martyn T. Smith, Laiyu Li, and Luoping Zhang."Formaldehyde in China: Production, consumption, exposure levels, and health effects."Environment International 35, 8 (2009): 1210-1224.
- Tapani M. Tuomi, Pertti O. Pasanen, Beatrice C. Bäck and Kari E. Reijula. "Airborne Concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds, Formaldehyde and Ammonia in Finnish Office Buildings with Suspected Indoor Air Problems." Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene 6,3 (2009): 200-209.
- Tisler, Tatjana and Jana Zagorc-Koncan. "Comparative assessment of toxicity of phenol, formaldehyde, and industrial wastewater to aquatic organisms." Water, Air and Soil Pollution 97 (1997): 315-322.
- Tripetchkul, Sudarut, Kanokwan Pundee, Songpon Koonsrisuk and Saengchai Akeprathumchai. "Co-composting of coir pith and cow manure: initial C/N ratio vs physico-chemical changes." International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture 1, 15 (2012): 1-8.
- Vaughan, Thomas L., Patricia A. Stewart, Kay Teschke, Charles F. Lynch, G. Marie Swenson, Joseph L. Lyon, and Marianne Berwick. "Occupational exposure to formaldehyde and

wood dust and nasopharyngeal carcinoma." Occupational & Environmental Medicine 57 (2000): 376-384.

- Wen, Qingbo, Caiting Li, Zhihong Cai, Wei Zhang, Hongliang Gao, Lijun Chen, Guangming Zeng, Xin Shu, and Yapei Zhao. "Study on activated carbon derived from sewage sludge for adsorption of gaseous formaldehyde." Bioresource Technology 102, 2 (2011): 942-947.
- Weng, Mili, Lizhong Zhu, Kun Yang, and Shuguang Chen. "Levels and health risks of carbonyl compounds in selected public places in Hangzhou, China." Journal of Hazardous Materials 164, 2-3 (2009): 700-706.
- WHO Regional Office for Europe. "Chapter 5.8: Formaldehyde." (2001). Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Wilson, Shondelle M., Marshall P. Gleistein, and Timothy J. Donohue. "Identification of proteins involved in formaldehyde metabolism by Rhodobacter sphaeroides." Microbiology 154 (2008): 296-305.
- Wolkoff, P., P.A. Clausen, P.A. Nielsen, and L. Molhave. "The Danish Twin-Apartment Study;
 Part 1: Formaldehyde and Long-Term VOC Measurements." Indoor Air 4 (1991):478-490.
- Wolverton, B.C. and John D. Wolverton. "Plant And Soil Microorganisms: Removal of Formaldehyde, Xylene, and Ammonia from the Indoor Environment." Journal of the Mississippi Academy of Sciences 38, 2 (1993): 11-15.

- Xu, Zhongjun, Li Wang, and Haiping Hou. "Formaldehyde removal by potted plant–soil systems." Journal of Hazardous Materials 192 (2011): 314-318.
- Yamazaki, Tomohioko, Wakako Tsugawa, and Koji Sode. "Biodegradation of Formaldehyde by a Formaldehyde-Resistant Bacterium Isolated from Seawater." Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology (2001): 213-217.
- Yang, Liping, Zhenyan Liu, Jianwei Shi, Yunqian Zhang, Hai Hu, and Wenfeng Shangguan."Degradation of indoor gaseous formaldehyde by hybrid VUV and TiO2/UV processes."Separation and Purification Technology 54, 2 (2007): 204-211.
- Yu, Jing Quan, Kwang Seek Lee, and Yoshihisa Matsui. "Effect of the addition of activated charcoal to the nutrient solution on the growth of tomato in hydroponic culture." Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 39, 1 (1993): 13-22.
- Zhang, Luoping, Craig Steinmaus, David A. Eastmond, Xianjun K. Xin, and Martyn T. Smith.
 "Formaldehyde exposure and leukemia: A new meta-analysis and potential mechanisms."
 Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research 681, 2-3 (2009): 150-168.
- Zhang, Xin and Qingquan Liu. "Visible-light-induced degradation of formaldehyde over titania photocatalyst co-doped with nitrogen and nickel." Applied Surface Science 254 (2008): 4780-4785.
- Zolla, Gaston, Dayakar V. Badri, Matthew G. Bakker, Daniel K. Manter, and Jorge M. Vivanco. "Soil microbiomes vary in their ability to confer drought tolerance to Arabidopsis." Applied Soil Ecology 68 (2013): 1-9.